
CHAIR DENNIS MARTINEZ; VICE-CHAIR, HEIDI WATTERS; COMMISSIONERS, SHARON 

MANN, MIKE HANSEN, LOUISE STRANDER, KAREN SIMMONS AND DIXIE STARK 

BOARD OF ARCHITECTURAL REVIEW  

PUBLIC MEETING AGENDA 

JANUARY 24, 2019 - 6:30 PM 

TUKWILA CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS 

I. CALL TO ORDER

II. ATTENDANCE

III. ADOPT MINUTES

IV. CASE NUMBERS: L18-0026 Design Review 

L18-0027 Conditional Use Permit 

APPLICANT: Sean Hill of Broderick Architects on behalf of Vietnamese Martyrs Parish 

REQUEST: The applicant proposes a 7,000 sf² addition to an existing office 

building to create a learning center, partial demolition of  

and construction of an addition to the main church building  

(67,500 sf²), and related improvements including restriping  

and expanding the parking lot and landscaping. 

LOCATION: 6841 and 6847 S. 180th Street 

CASE NUMBERS: L18-0112 (Variance)  

L18-0065 (Design Review) 

L08-079 (Preliminary Approval) 

APPLICANT: Mike Overbeck  

REQUEST: (1) Variance from side and rear yard setbacks, landscaping standards;

and design review for construction of a third story on the building

located at 14424 34th Ave S, and (2) Design Review Major

Modification and Preliminary Subdivision Approval for Phase 2 of

the Osterly Park Townhomes. The 14424 34th Ave S building will

share recreation spaces and parking spaces within the Osterly Park

Townhomes. Phase 2 of the Osterly Park Townhomes includes

construction of 15 townhomes, guest parking, access, recreation

space, and landscaping.

LOCATION: 14426 34th Ave S; 14424 34th Ave S; and 14401-14420 34th

Lane S;

(Tax parcel numbers: 6433600090, 0040000083, 6433600110,

6391110000)

V. DIRECTOR’S REPORT

VI. ADJOURN



2



Date: January 10, 2019 
Time: 6:30 PM  
Location: Council Chambers 

Present: Chair Dennis Martinez, Vice-Chair Heidi Watters, Commissioners Sharon Mann, Mike 
Hansen, Louise Strander, Karen Simmons and Dixie Stark  

Staff: Planning Supervisor Minnie Dhaliwal, Senior Planner Lynn Miranda and Planning 
Commission Secretary Wynetta Bivens  

Chair Martinez called the public hearing to order at 6:33 PM. 

Adopt 

Minutes: Commissioner Mann made a motion to adopt the August 23, 2018 minutes. 

Commissioner Hansen seconded the motion. Motion passed.  

Commissioner Mann made a motion to adopt the September 27, 2018 minutes. 

Commissioner Hansen seconded the motion.  Motion passed. 

Commissioner Strander made a motion to adopt the October 11, 2018 minutes. 

Commissioner Hansen seconded the motion. Motion passed.  

Commissioner Strander made a motion to adopt the November 8, 2018 minutes. 

Commissioner Watters seconded the motion.  Motion passed.  

Commissioner Stander requested to amend the December 13, 2018 minutes, she wanted 

it reflected in the minutes that she asked about the proposed Tukwila International 

Boulevard ritualization effect on the project. Commissioner Martinez made a motion to 

accept the minutes as amended. Commissioner Hansen second. Motion passed.  

Chair Martinez opened the public hearing and swore in those wishing to provide testimony for: 

CASE NUMBER: L18-0087 

APPLICANT:  Alliance Residential Company  

REQUEST: Approve Design Review for 7-story, 134-unit Assisted Living with Memory Care 

Facility 

LOCATION: 112 Andover Park East, Tukwila, WA 98188 

Lynn Miranda, Senior Planner, Department of Community Development (DCD) asked the appearance 

of fairness questions. No one objected to the Commissioners hearing the project. 

An overview was given on the design review process and background information was provided on the 
site and project as well as information on the applicant’s requests for modifications. It was noted that 
several permits were previously approved by the DCD Director, including a Parking Determination and 

3

City of Tukwila 
Planning Commission 

BOARD OF ARCHITECTURAL REVIEW (BAR)  

 MINUTES 



Shoreline Substantial Development permit. It was also noted that SEPA is not required because the 
project is covered under a Planned Action SEPA previously prepared for the entire Southcenter area.  

Staff entered into the record a comment letter received on January 8th, 2019, which was handed out to 
the Commissioners along with the applicant’s responses and some notes by staff. 

MODIFICATIONS REQUESTED BY THE APPLICANT  

On-Site Surface Parking Location/Width 

On neighborhood corridors, surface parking between the building and the back of the sidewalk is 
limited to a maximum depth of 63 ft. the width needed for a double-loaded aisle of parking. The 
standard is exceeded on the eastern side of the building, between the building and Christensen Road, 
primarily due to the shoreline regulations which limits the maximum height of the building to 45 ft. in 
the shoreline jurisdiction. It constrains the site and affects the building placement.  Therefore, the 
applicant requested a modification to locate the bulk of the building outside of the 200 ft. Shoreline 
environment, adjacent to Andover Park E., which will cause them to exceed the maximum standard 63 
ft. of parking between the building and Christensen Road. The maximum height of the building for the 
portion of the building within the 200 ft. shoreline buffer is limited to a maximum of 45 ft. in height. 

Staff recommends approval of the modification request. 

Landscaping Standards 

1) The project does not meet the interior parking lot landscape island requirement at the end of the
parking aisles. Therefore, the applicant is requesting approval of smaller islands two feet wide;

2) Approval for less landscaping than required at the end of the parking isles. The modification would
allow the parking requirement to be met and preserve and enhance the landscaping in the parking lot
perimeter adjacent to Christensen Road.

3) Approval to place a portion of the street trees on Christensen Road behind the sidewalk and to be
added to the parking lot perimeter landscaping.

The proposal will meet the minimum landscaping requirement. 

Staff recommends approval of the modification request. 

RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends approval of the project including the proposed modifications with three conditions, 
as listed in the January 10, 2019 staff report. 

Staff answered clarifying questions pertaining to the recommendation. 

Commissioner Watters expressed concern with the proposed landscaping species.  The applicant said 
they could revisit the species, and staff noted an additional condition could be added. 

Chad Lorentz, Architect for the applicant, introduced Alex Dalzell, Architect and Bob Fazio, 
Landscape Architect. They gave the presentation providing background information. It was noted that 
the way the Green River bends it comes very close to the street and there is no green space. Therefore, 
they used it as an opportunity to define the massing of the building by stepping it down in height 
towards the river. An overview was also given on the site design, landscape design, building 
modulation and materials. It was noted that the project site provided a lot of opportunities and 
challenges which the applicant thanked staff for helping them to work through. 

Commissioner Strander requested to see the materials board. 

The applicant and staff answered clarifying questions for the Commissioners. 

4



PUBLIC TESTIMONY:  

There was no public testimony. 

The public hearing was closed. 

DELIBERATION: 

Commissioner Watters requested adding the following two conditions. 

• Where a medium-large sized tree should be used, replace the Cascara trees in the plantings along
Christensen Road with, at maturity, a type of medium-large sized, disease-resistant tree native
to the region at proper spacing for their size.

• The Western Hemlock trees in the plantings along Christensen Road appear to be planted too

closely based on their size at maturity. Review and revise the spacing of the Western Hemlock

trees while keeping the same number of proposed plantings.

• 
The Commissioners were in consensus that it is a great project and will be an access to Tukwila. 

Commissioners Mann and Watters complimented staff on the great presentation and thanked them 
for working with the applicant to bring a great project to Tukwila. 

MOTION: 

Commissioner Strander made a motion to approve the two new conditions. Commissioner Mann seconded 

the motion. All were in favor. 

Commissioner Mann moved to approve Case Number L18-0087, L18-0086 and L18-0081 Design 
Review based on staff’s findings and conclusions and conditions as listed in the January 10, 2019 staff 
report, as amended with two additional conditions. Commissioner Hansen seconded the motion.  All 
were in favor 

DIRECTOR’S REPORT: 

• Nora Gierloff, Deputy Director welcomed the new Commissioners, Karen Simmons and Dixie
Stark to the Board.

• The next meeting will be January 24, 2019.

ADJOURNED: 8:00 PM 

Submitted by:  Wynetta Bivens 

Planning Commission Secretary 

5



6



Addendum to the Staff Report 
Board of Architectural Review for Vietnamese Martyrs Expansion 

January 15, 2019 

Hearing on this item was held on October 25, 2018 and was kept open because the comment 
period for the SEPA determination had not ended. Additionally, the applicant submitted a letter 
at the hearing requesting relief from public access requirements of the Shoreline Master 
Program.  
FILE NUMBERS: L18-0026 Design Review 

L18-0027 Conditional Use Permit 
APPLICANT: Sean Hill of Broderick Architects on behalf of Vietnamese Martyrs 

Parish 
REQUEST: Conditional Use Permit Approval and Design Review approval for 

a 7,000 sf² addition to an existing office building to create a 
learning center; partial demolition of and construction of an 
addition to the main church building (67,500 sf²); and related 
improvements including restriping and expanding the parking and 
landscaping. 

LOCATION: 6841 and 6847 S. 180th St. Tukwila, WA 
COMPREHENSIVE  
PLAN AND ZONING Tukwila Urban Center- Workplace (TUC-WP) with portions of 

Public Recreation Overlay 

SEPA DETERMINATION: A Determination of Non-Significance (DNS) was issued on 
October 17th, 2018.    

SHORELINE DECISION: Shoreline Substantial Development permit was issued on January 
15, 2018. 

STAFF: Minnie Dhaliwal, Planning Supervisor 

ATTACHMENTS: A. Staff report prepared for the October 25, 2018 hearing. The
attachments included with the staff report can be found online at

B. Pedestrian access exhibit prepared January 3, 2019 by Broderick
Architects

7

http://records.tukwilawa.gov/WebLink/1/fol/309027/Row1.aspx

http://records.tukwilawa.gov/WebLink/1/fol/309027/Row1.aspx


BACKGROUND: 

The public hearing on the Conditional Use Permit and Design Review was opened on October 
25, 2018. However, since the SEPA comment period had not ended before the hearing and the 
applicant submitted a letter requesting relief from public access requirements of the Shoreline 
Master Program, the hearing was continued.  
 
NOTIFICATION:  

In addition to the previous notice of hearing for the October 25, 2018 hearing, additional notice 
was provided for the January 24, 2019 hearing. A notice of hearing was mailed to property 
owners and tenants within 500 feet of the site and agencies with jurisdiction on January 10, 
2019. The notice of hearing was also posted on site on January 9, 2019. It was published in the 
Seattle Times on January 10, 2019. 
 
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION: 

Since the hearing the applicant submitted the revised location of the public access easement. 
See Attachment B for the location of the new proposed easement. Public access requirements 
are reviewed as part of the Shoreline Substantial Development permit. After resolution of the 
public access issue, the Director of Community Development approved the Shoreline 
Substantial Development permit.  
 
RECOMMENDATION: 

At this time staff recommends approval of the Conditional Use Permit and Design Review 
applications with the following conditions based on findings and conclusions listed in the staff 
report prepared for the October 25, 2018 hearing: 
 
CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT- CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL: 

1. The applicant shall be responsible for obtaining and recording a Shared or Covenant Parking 
Agreement between the subject property and the adjoining overflow parking area properties if 
either: the seating is expanded such that site does not meet the requirement of one parking 
space per four seats, or if the parking demand cannot be met on the property and there are 
offsite parking impacts as determined by the City. The language of the Shared or Covenant 
Parking Agreement shall be approved by the City and shall be consistent with TMC 18.56.070. 
Also, the applicant shall be responsible for obtaining a street use permit from the City’s Public 
Works Department to use on street parking on Olympic Ave S, Cascade Ave S and Riverside 
Drive.  
2. The applicant shall adopt a Parking Management Program for special events that shall 
include the following: a) Information and education: Educate the congregation families to 
encourage them to carpool, use transit, bike, or walk to the church. b) Demand Reduction 
Strategies: Establish a preferred parking area for families and groups that carpool with four or 
more persons per car; c) Demand Management Strategies: Continue to implement measures to 
ensure that sufficient parking is available. These measures could include agreements with the 
surrounding businesses; shuttles; establishing a team of parking attendants to help direct 
drivers to available parking locations.  
 

8



 
 
DESIGN REVIEW- CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL: 

1. At the time of building plan submittal, submit a complete and detailed landscaping plan that 
includes irrigation, planting and soil details in conformance with the requirements of TMC 18.28; 
Tukwila Urban Center. The landscape plan shall be revised to include trellises and vines or 
other vegetative screening to break up the massing of the large wall with no window openings 
on the south side of the church building.  
2. At the time of building plan submittal, submit plans for screening mechanical equipment for 
the Learning Center and the church buildings, or create elevations and renderings showing that 
mechanical equipment will be screened from view.  
 
EXTENSION OF EXPIRATION DATE: 

Additionally, staff recommends that the expiration date of the conditional use permit and design 
review approval be extended to match the expiration of the underlying shoreline substantial 
development permit. Under WAC 197-27-090, construction shall commence within two years of 
the effective date of the shoreline permit; and substantial development be complete within 5 
years. One year extension can be granted by the Department of Community Development 
Director based on reasonable factors. 
 
 
 
 

9



10



Staff Report  
Board of Architectural Review for Vietnamese Martyrs Expansion 

Prepared for the October 25, 2018 Meeting 

FILE NUMBERS: L18-0026 Design Review 
L18-0027 Conditional Use Permit 

APPLICANT: Sean Hill of Broderick Architects on behalf of Vietnamese Martyrs 
Parish 

REQUEST:  The applicant proposes a 7,000 sf² addition to an existing office 
building to create a learning center, partial demolition of and 
construction of an addition to the main church building (67,500 
sf²), and related improvements including restriping and expanding 
the parking lot and interior remodeling. 

LOCATION: 6841 and 6847 S. 180th St. Tukwila, WA 
COMPREHENSIVE  
PLAN AND ZONING Tukwila Urban Center- Workplace (TUC-WP) with portions of 

Public Recreation Overlay 

SEPA DETERMINATION: A Determination of Non-Significance (DNS) was issued on 
October 17th, 2018.    

NOTIFICATION: A Notice of Application was mailed on May 11, 2018 to property 
owners within 500’ of the site and agencies with jurisdiction and 
was also posted on site. Comments were received from the 
Muckleshoot Indian Tribe. A Determination of Non-Significance 
was issued on October 17th, 2018. A Notice of Hearing was mailed 
on October 10, 2018 and published in the Seattle Times on 
October 11, 2018.  

RECOMMENDATION: Approval with conditions 
STAFF: Lindsay Brown, Assistant Planner 

11

wynetta
Text Box

wynetta
Text Box

wynetta
Text Box

wynetta
Text Box
ATTACHMENT A



 

ATTACHMENTS:   A. Large Plan Sheets- Site and Landscaping Plans 
Survey Site Plan 
Exhibit C Trees to be Removed 
Sheet A4 Proposed Site Plan 
Sheet A4.1 Luminaire Plan 
Sheet A5 Landscaping Plan 
Exhibit D Shoreline Public Access 

 
 

B. Large Plan Sheets- Floor Plans and Elevations 
Sheet A7 Church Ground Floor 

 Sheet A8 Church Second Floor 
 Sheet A6 Leaning Center Floor Plan and Elevations  

Sheet A9 Church- North and West Elevations 
Sheet A10 Church- South and East Elevations 

 
 

 
 
C. Hearing Examiner’s decision approving the Conditional Use 

Permit on May 15, 2013. 
 
D. Applicant’s response to Conditional Use Criteria 
 
E. Church attendance report dated 9/25/2018 prepared by Broderick 

Architects 
 
F. Traffic Management Plan dated 9/25/2018 prepared by Broderick 

Architect 
 
G. Applicant’s response to Design Review Criteria 
 
H. Exterior Material information dated 10/16/2018 prepared by 

Broderick Architects 
 
I. Tukwila Municipal Code sections TMC Table 18-1 Summary of 

applicable review process and standards/guidelines; TMC Table 
18-3 Tukwila Urban Center District Standards; TMC Figures 18-
25 and 18-27, Commercial Corridor and Workplace Standards 

 
 
J. Public Comments and Applicant’s response 
 
K. Materials Board will be presented at the meeting 

  
  

12



 
REPORT ORGANIZATION 

 
Following a detailed project description for the expansion of the Vietnamese Martyrs Church, 
the report is divided for analysis of the conditional use permit and design review requests. In 
both of these sections, the proposal will be compared to the criteria for permit approval.  
 
TMC 18.104.030 allows for all permit applications related to a single project to be bundled 
together in a consolidated hearing and approval procedure, using the highest numbered land 
use decision type applicable to the project application. Conditional Use Permits are Type 3 land 
use decisions made by the Hearing Examiner. Design Review is a Type 4 decision made by the 
Board of Architectural Review. The Conditional Use Permit and Design Review requests will 
both be decided by the Board of Architectural Review. An open record public hearing is 
scheduled on October 25, 2018.  
 
A SEPA Determination of Non-Significance (DNS) was issued on October 17th, 2018   the 
comment period for SEPA determination shall end on October 31, 2018. Per WAC 197-11-340 
an agency cannot act on a proposal for 14 days after the issuance of DNS if there is another 
agency with jurisdiction. Since the project is subject to Shoreline Substantial Development 
permit, the Department of Ecology is another agency with jurisdiction. Therefore, the Board of 
Architectural Review could hold the hearing on October 25, 2018 but will need to keep the 
hearing open until the next meeting on November 8, 2018 to make a decision on the design 
review and conditional use permit for the project.   
 

FINDINGS 
 
 
Site Information 

The Vietnamese Martyrs church expansion is planned for three parcels at the terminus and east 
side of Sperry Drive, in the Tukwila Urban Center- Workplace District. The Green River Trail is 
routed atop a bermed levee maintained by the King County Flood Control District, forming the 
western, southern, and eastern edges of the development site. The Public Recreation Overlay 
zone covers approximately 100’ of the east, west, and south edges of the site measured from 
the landward bottom of the levee. There is an access road used by the Flood District running 
from the southeast edge of the church building along the bottom of the levee to about midway 
along the site’s eastern edge. Vehicular access to the site is from Sperry Drive; there are no 
other driveways onto S. 180th Street. A steep bank divides the mostly flat developable area of 
the site from S. 180th Street. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

13



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The area including this site and across the river west of West Valley Highway was annexed to 
Tukwila in 1958 under Ordinance 258. The current Shoreline Master Program, adopted in 2011, 
establishes a Shoreline buffer width of 125 feet for areas within the Urban Conservancy 
Environment protected by levees, measured from the Ordinary High Water Mark (OHWM). The 
area within the Shoreline Overlay but outside of the buffer comprises an additional 75 feet from 
the buffer edge.  
 
Existing Development  

The site is developed with two older buildings, each partially surrounded by surface parking 
areas, and separated from each other by a grassy undeveloped area.  
 
At the northeast corner of the site sits a 17000 sf² former Wells Fargo bank building constructed 
in 1968, with one row of parking between the building and S. 180th Street and two rows of 
parking between the east side of the building and the levee. The exit for the parking area routes 
parallel to the west side of the building before intersecting with Sperry Drive, a private street.  
 

N 

14



The church building of 62,250 sf² was built in 1973. It is located near the southern edge of the 
developable site, with a grouping of mature evergreen trees located between the southern edge 
of the church and the landward edge of the levee. There is asphalt parking west, north and east 
of the building, and a small parking area and loading area located at the southwest corner of the 
building. The church area of the site forms the terminus of Sperry Drive.  
 
 

Surrounding Land Uses  

West of the Sperry Drive but east of the Green River is two parcels owned and used by Wells 
Fargo bank. North of the site across S. 180th Street are other commercial uses- a Taco Time 
restaurant, oil change business, and Home Depot. All of these sites are zoned TUC-WP, and 
the Wells Fargo parcel also has the Public recreation Overlay along the river trail at the western 
property line.  
 
South of the site and across the river is an office park zoned commercial/light industrial (CLI). 
East of the church and across the river is a small strip commercial center and a Residence Inn, 
both located in the City of Kent.  
 
Environmentally Sensitive Areas  

The Shoreline Overlay comprises 200’ landward of the Ordinary High Water Mark (OHWM), 
along the site’s western, southern, and eastern boundaries. There is a small strip of steep 
slopes at the northern edge of the site, sloping sharply up to S. 180th Street.   
 
Topography  

The majority of the site is flat; the edges of the site sit above the developable area, formed by 
levees of three sides and a steep slope on the northern site edge.      
 
Vegetation  

Streetscape landscaping along Sperry Drive consists of five large, healthy trees on the west 
side of the street and grassy lawn underneath. This landscaped area begins 120’ south of S. 
180th St. and runs for 140’, ending at the vehicular ingress for Wells Fargo.  On the east side of 
Sperry Drive is a landscape strip with five ornamental trees with gravel underneath the 
canopies, ending approximately 160’ south of S. 180th Street at the egress for the Wells Fargo 
building.  
 
There are mature evergreen trees on the northeast edge of the site on a steep slope/levee berm 
between the parking lot edge of the office building and the river, and between the church’s 
southern wall and the levee. Additionally, there are three large evergreens between the church 
and office buildings, one evergreen at the northwest corner of the church, six cherry trees in 
front of the church, and one small deciduous tree east of the church.  
 
Project Description 

The project proposes an expansion of the existing main church building, expanding and 
converting a former bank building into classrooms, expanding and restriping the parking lot, and 

15



other site changes including additional landscaping and pedestrian access. These 
improvements are divided into three phases. The renovations and expansions planned are to 
accommodate the existing church congregation; an increase in the congregation and demand 
for classroom space, parking spaces, etc. is not anticipated with project approval.  
 
Phase I will add 7,000 sf² to the existing 17,000 sf² office building fronting S. 180th street, to 
create a Learning Center with classrooms. Phase I includes expanding the parking area south 
of the proposed Learning Center and east of the church, and installing perimeter parking lot 
landscaping, marked pedestrian paths of pervious pavement, and a small bioswale for natural 
filtration of stormwater runoff.  
 
Phase II consists of partial demolition of the church and an expansion; total construction area 
will cover approximately 67,500 sf². Phase II will demolish about 50% of the existing building on 
the northern side, constructing a sanctuary, chapel, administrative offices and six classrooms 
over a ground-level parking garage.  
 
Phase III consists of interior renovations to the southern half of the existing church. 
Approximately 27,000 sf² will be renovated, improving the kitchen and cafeteria and creating an 
auditorium.  
 
Behind the elevated levee which routes along the western, southern, and eastern edges of the 
parcels, the ground is generally flat with a steep slope up to S. 180th from the northern parking 
area of the proposed Learning Center. The Flood Control District requires 30’ wide access 
easements for levee maintenance at the eastern edge of the site between existing Learning 
Center parking and a proposed landscaped planting area, and on the northwestern corner of the 
church parcel site. Additionally, an existing levee access road along the landward edge of the 
berm along the southern and eastern edges of the site will be paved to provide the District and 
the Tukwila Fire Department access for their needs.  
 
Almost half of the project site is within the 200-foot shoreline jurisdiction of the Green River, in 
the Urban Conservancy Shoreline Environment, protected by levees. The work occurring within 
the 125- foot buffer zone and within the 200 ft. Shoreline Overlay includes parking lot restriping 
and expansion and installation of landscaping and lighting.  No lighting or glare from proposed 
improvements will reach the Ordinary High Water Mark (OHWM) (Luminaire Plan, Attachment 
A).  No work will occur waterward of the OHWM or on the levee banks or top.  
 

16



 
Figure 1. Proposed Site Plan 

 
 
 
Building Design 

 

 
Figure 2. Rendering of the site from Sperry drive and S. 180th Street 

 

17



The architectural renderings and description of the church building expansion and remodel 
show a French colonial design reminiscent of the architecture of Saigon, with towers topped by 
spires framing the main entrance and forming the narthex. The processional doors to the 
sanctuary are centered by a series of steps flanked by ADA-accessible ramps rising from a 
courtyard surfaced in brick-colored stamped concrete. Doorways are arched, but this main 
façade is peaked over the second-story circular stained glass window.  
 
The church building’s roof material is primarily red clay roofing tiles, with ribbed metal roofing 
forming the spires, color matched to the clay tiles. The exterior wall treatment is Nichiha Fiber 
Cement in Sandstone Desert Beige, a pale tan color. Portions of the base will have a stone 
veneer treatment applied approximately 4’ from ground level, as will the Learning Center 
façade.  
 
 

 
Figure 3. Northern elevation and church entrance 

 
 
Looking left of the main entrance, you see the shorter 2-story section of the building housing 
offices and classrooms. This portion of the building has an exterior arcade running across the 
length of the second story, and the eastern edge is framed by a taller arched roof over a 
ground-floor east-facing exterior stage. There is a secondary entrance along this section, also 
accessed by stairs ascending from the plaza, but the entrance is recessed and smaller than the 
principal entrance. 
 
Behind the northern façade but visible and prominent behind the principal entrance is a large 
dome with clerestory windows forming the roof directly over the sanctuary. The dome and all 
portions of the building taller than 45’ are non-habitable, religious architectural features integral 
to the church design.  
 

18



 
Figure 4. West elevation; renovated portion only 

 

The renovated northernmost section of the church building seen above in Figure 4 is designed 
with a single story of conditioned space (sanctuary, chapel, offices and classrooms) over a 
ground-floor garage with 105 parking spaces, storage space, and two vehicular entries each on 
the western and eastern sides of the building.  
 
The learning center will be expanded slightly to the west and south, and all facades will be 
renovated to match the church’s warm beige coloring and clay roofing tiles. The Learning 
Center will have Hardie Panel Vertical Siding in Sail Cloth, a pale tan color matching the 
church’s façade. The Learning Center will have the same stone veneer treatment applied to the 
bottom 4’ of all facades (precast stone veneer- El Dorado Autumn Leaf) and will be reroofed in 
red clay roofing tiles (Boral Clay Tile- El Camino Blend). The applicant has proposed Stucco as 
an alternate material for Hardie Panel Vertical Siding. Also, Met Tile Metal Roofing Tile in 
Mission Clay color is proposed as an alternate material for roofing. See Attachment H for photos 
of the proposed materials. Materials board shall be provided at the meeting. 
 
 
Site Plan  

 
The project expands the building footprints and parking areas of the site without expanding the 
developable area defined as the flat expanse landward of the levee berms. The existing 
nonconforming parking areas will remain, but the parking area will be increased by paving the 
flat areas of patchy grass and dirt between the Learning Center and the church and between the 
church’s eastern façade and the levee. A stormwater treatment and detention tank will be buried 
underneath some of the parking spaces created by paving the area between the two buildings.   
 

19



 
Figure 5. Proposed site plan showing pedestrian pathways 

 
Vehicular and pedestrian circulation will be improved with project approval. The existing parking 
areas are devoid of landscaping islands, integrated site lighting, and pedestrian pathways. 
Vehicular circulation will be improved via the paving of an existing gravel pathway following the 
levee berm around the southern and eastern edges of the development area, marked and 
defined drive aisles and clear traffic patterns, and shielded, directed parking lot lighting. The 
expanded parking lot areas meet all landscaping and lighting requirements and feature 6’ wide 
pedestrian paths to the buildings easily identifiable by colored pervious pavement and framed 
by pedestrian lighting fixtures. The section of pedestrian pathway adjacent to the Learning 
Center’s southern wall from Sperry Drive to the trail will be accessible to the public via a 
recorded public access easement, marked with appropriate signage, and maintained for the life 
of the project by the applicant. When selecting a route that could be used for public shoreline 
access, several routes were considered including a stairway descending from the S. 180th St. 
bridge terminus at the northeast corner of the site down to the trail, and a sidewalk extension on 
the east side of Sperry Drive. The sidewalk extension on the west side of Sperry Drive, crossing 
over and continuing east in a straight line was selected because of problems identified with the 
other two options by the Flood Control District, Tukwila Parks Department, and Public Works 
staff. Additionally, it was noted that the large deciduous trees on the west side of Sperry Drive 
are lush and healthy while the trees on the east side are over pruned and struggling.  The 
proposed public access route saves the healthy trees, improved pedestrian circulation to and 
throughout the site, and replaces unhealthy and struggling landscaping.  

20



 
 
Landscaping 

 

When there is a change of use or expansion proposed that would increase the required parking 
spaces by less than 100% of existing, the new parking areas only must comply with current 
development standards; the existing areas may remain legally nonconforming. Outside of the 
Shoreline Overlay, Per TMC 18.70.080 Nonconforming Parking Lots, parking lots need only 
come into compliance with current code requirements (stall size, drive aisle width, interior 
landscaping requirements) if a change of use is proposed, or if additional parking is required to 
support building additions. As the proposed building expansions do not change the use of the 
site and no increase in parishioners is anticipated, the landscaping requirements for parking lot 
islands in the existing parking areas onsite do not apply.  
 
The existing levee berms maintained by the Flood Control District provide screening for the 
proposed expanded parking areas located between the river and buildings. No plantings or 
structures including fencing are allowed on the levee berms. The Flood Control District and the 
Tukwila Fire Department both require the applicant to pave the access road that runs along the 
interior edge of the levee berm, preventing plantings or fencing to reduce visual impacts.  
 
Landscape plans show significant clustering of evergreen trees with shrubs and groundcover 
between the proposed expanded parking areas east and northeast of the church building. 28 
evergreen trees (Douglas Fir and Western Red Cedar) will be planted in the perimeter 
landscaping areas.  The applicant has agreed to give the 5 trees that will be removed from the 
Shoreline Overlay to King County for use as large woody debris for riverine habitat. 
 
Throughout the new parking areas, landscaped islands are positioned no more than 150 feet 
apart. These landscaped areas are planted with deciduous trees, shrubs and groundcover. The 
plans show 4,457 sf² of new landscaping proposed with project approval. East of the church 
between two rows of parking, a bioretention area will accept runoff from the adjacent parking 
spaces, naturally filtering it through the landscaping and soil.  
 
There are small landscaped areas framing the church’s northern facade adjacent to the ramps 
to the sanctuary, between the two entrances, and hugging the building’s northeast corner. 
Streetscape landscaping proposed is a replanting of the 15’ wide landscaping strip on the 
eastern side of Sperry Drive adjacent to the Learning Center with a mix of deciduous and 
evergreen trees, with shrubs and groundcover planted underneath.  
 
Public Comments 

 
Notice was sent to property owners and tenants within 500’ of the site and agencies with 
jurisdiction. No comments were received from the general public regarding the proposed work. 
Comments were received from the Muckleshoot Indian Tribe related to SEPA and Shoreline 
permit. These comments were forwarded to the applicant, who replied to each comment and 

21



submitted revisions incorporating some of the Tribe’s concerns. These comments and applicant’s 
response are included as Attachment J. The applicant has incorporated several suggestions from 
the Tribe into the site, landscaping and luminaire plans. In response to concerns about artificial 
lighting, the applicant has submitted design specification sheets for lighting fixtures showing that 
light sources will be shielded to minimize light spillover and glare, and a luminaire plan showing 
that no light generated from the project will reach the ordinary high water mark. The Tribe 
requested tree species substitutions of tall conifer trees (that could provide shade over part of the 
river) for the mostly deciduous trees initially proposed as perimeter landscaping. The applicant 
has since revised the landscaping plan showing Douglas Fir and Western Red Cedar in the 
perimeter landscaping areas, in addition to significantly expanding the size of landscaping areas 
within the Shoreline Overlay. The applicant has agreed to give the 5 trees that will be removed 
from the Shoreline Overlay to King County for use as large woody debris for riverine habitat.  

 
 

 
 
 
 

22



 

CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT  L18-0027 
 
 
Vietnamese Martyrs Parish requests approval of a conditional use permit to allow the church to 
operate and expand in the TUC-WP zone. Conditional use permits are utilized as a way to 
establish review and permit approval procedures for unusual or unique types of land uses which 
due to their nature, require special consideration of their impact on the neighborhood and land 
uses in the vicinity. There was a conditional use permit approved by the Hearing Examiner in 
2013, for establishing this church use in an existing manufacturing building at 6801 S 180th 
Street. Expansion of the church use requires a new conditional use permit. See Attachment C 
for the Hearing Examiner’s decision issued in 2013.  
 
Criteria for Approval 
The proposed project must comply with criteria detailed in the Conditional Use Permit Chapter 
of the Tukwila Municipal Code (TMC 18.64.050). The applicant’s response to the conditional 
use permit criteria is Attachment D to this staff report. Staff makes the following findings using 
the Code’s conditional use permit criteria (TMC 18.64.050) listed in italics: 
 
1. The proposed use will not be materially detrimental to the public welfare or injurious to 

the property or improvements in the vicinity of the proposed use or in the district in which 
the subject property is situated. 

 
The project will improve the appearance of the church building and provide site improvements 
such as water quality measures and additional parking spaces needed to adequately serve the 
existing church congregation. The improvements planned will improve vehicular and pedestrian 
circulation, create additional access to the trail and shoreline, and improve the quality of 
development significantly while maintaining the site’s use as a church serving the Catholic 
Vietnamese community in Tukwila and environs.  
 
 

2. The proposed use shall meet or exceed the performance standards that are required in 
the district it will occupy. 

 
The Tukwila Urban Center- Workplace District (TUC-WP) is intended to provide a wide range of 
distribution, warehousing, light industrial, “big box” retail, and furniture outlets, with incremental 
infill by office and other complementary commercial uses. S. 180th Street is designated as a 
Commercial Corridor in the Tukwila Urban Center. Commercial corridors are designed to 
provide greater capacity for vehicles, and attractive streetscapes along heavily travelled 
roadways serving auto-oriented commercial uses, with modest improvements for pedestrian 
safety. Sperry Drive is a private street but designated as a Workplace Corridor. Workplace 
Corridor standards are designated to provide streets serving truck loading and parking access 
for primarily warehouse/distribution uses in the southern part of the Southcenter area, with 
modest improvements for pedestrian safety. 
 

23



 
The following relevant standards exist in the TUC-WP District (TUC-WP), Commercial Corridors 
(S. 180th St.) and Workplace Corridors (Sperry Dr.) and are found in the identified section of the 
Tukwila Municipal Code: 
 
Setbacks (Table 18-3; Figures 18-25 and 18-27): Side and rear- 5 feet. Front yard setback for 
properties along Sperry Drive and S. 180th Street is 15 feet.  
Off-street parking (TMC Figure 18-7): Religious facilities are required to provide 1 parking space 
for each 4 fixed seats.   The closest use to the educational facilities proposed as an accessory 
use of the site is a high school, with required parking determined as 1 space for each staff 
member plus 2 for every 5 students or visitors. Bicycle parking minimums are set at 1 space for 
every 50 required vehicular parking spaces for both religious facilities and high school uses.   
Landscaping (TMC Table 18-3; Figure 18-27): There are no side or rear landscaping 
requirements of the District. Front yards are required to have 15 feet of landscaping based on 
the corridor standards for Sperry Dive. The public frontage standard for both Sperry Drive and 
S. 180th Street is street trees planted 30-50 feet apart in a continuous landscaped strip 9 feet 
wide at the back of the curb. The parking lot and perimeter landscaping requirements in the 
Shoreline Chapter of the Tukwila Municipal Code also apply.  
Building height (Table 18-3): Buildings may be a maximum of 45 feet high, excluding portions of 
buildings extending beyond the primary building mass such as cupulas, bell towers, other 
architectural features, and non-habitable spaces. The building height provisions in the Shoreline 
Chapter of the Tukwila Municipal Code also apply.  
 
Both buildings meet the minimum setbacks of the Tukwila Urban Center Workplace District and 
Commercial and Workplace Corridors.  
 
The proposal will add 314 parking spaces west of the church and between the church and 
learning center, providing a total of 485 off-street parking spaces. Religious uses have a parking 
requirement of 1 space per every 4 fixed seats. There is no parking standard for the education 
activities to be held on the site, but the high school standard seems to be the closet equivalent 
use, with parking needs expected of staff and some students.   
 
The applicant has submitted an attendance report (Attachment E) showing the activities hosted 
by the parish, their days of the week and times, and attendance numbers. Because activities 
and events at the church take place on different days and times, parking demand should be 
calculated based on the site’s uses and the time of greatest demand. The event with the largest 
attendance (and greatest demand for parking) is Sunday mass held at 9:30 am, with an 
estimated 1200 attendees. Mass is held in the church sanctuary, which will have 1,318 fixed 
seats, requiring 330 parking spaces. Weekday 11am mass has the lowest attendance of 50 
parishioners.  
 
There are 20 classrooms in the Learning Center and the church building, with an estimated 20 
staff members requiring 30 parking spaces under the high school land use parking requirement. 
The parking requirements of religious facilities and high school uses are met even if educational 

24



classes and the largest mass service are held simultaneously. Additional parking has been 
provided onsite and a Traffic Management Plan (Attachment F) has been submitted for 
consideration because the parish occasionally hosts large events such as the Summer Festival 
held in August, which replaces some of the parking areas with stages and temporary shade 
structures while larger attendance numbers increase the demand for parking.  
 
General landscaping requirements are discussed in detail in the Design Review section later in 
the staff report. TMC 18.44.130.E regulates nonconforming parking and landscaping areas 
within the Shoreline Overlay.  When there is a change of use or expansion proposed that would 
increase the required parking spaces by less than 100% of existing, the new parking areas only 
must comply with current development standards; the existing areas may remain legally 
nonconforming. Outside of the Shoreline Overlay, Per TMC 18.70.080 Nonconforming Parking 
Lots, parking lots need only come into compliance with current code requirements (stall size, 
drive aisle width, interior landscaping requirements) if a change of use is proposed, or if 
additional parking is required to support building additions. As the proposed building expansions 
do not change the use of the site and no increase in parishioners is anticipated, the landscaping 
requirements for parking lot islands in the existing parking areas onsite do not apply.  
 
A portion of the church building is located in the Shoreline Overlay, outside of the buffer. The 
development standards for the Urban Conservancy Environment, non-buffer areas restricts 
building height to 45 feet. The Learning Center and the habitable portions of the expanded 
church building meet the 45 feet maximum height allowed in the TUC-WP zone. The dome, bell 
towers, and all portions of the church building taller than 45’ are non-habitable, religious 
architectural features integral to the church design. TMC 18.50.080 Exemption of Rooftop 
Appurtenances states “The height limitations specified in this chapter shall not apply to church 
spires, monuments, chimneys, water towers, elevator towers, mechanical equipment, and other 
similar rooftop appurtenances usually required to be placed above the roof level and not 
intended for human occupancy or the provision of additional floor area; provided, that 
mechanical equipment rooms or attic spaces are set back at least 10 feet from the edge of the 
roof and do not exceed 20 feet in height.” The proposed development meets the Tukwila Urban 
Center and Shoreline development standards regarding building height.  
 
 
3. The proposed use shall be compatible generally with the surrounding land uses in terms 

of traffic and pedestrian circulation, building and site design. 
 
 
Traffic from the church will be most noticeable during Sunday mornings and at the occasional 
festival or large event held on a weekend. The parking lot will be expanded with project 
approval, and vehicular and pedestrian circulation patterns significantly improved. Parking 
management for the occasional large event or festival is provided via agreements with the 
owners of three nearby sites. The Traffic Management Plan (Attachment F) shows the location 
of these three areas. Two are private properties and the third location is on street parking on 
Olympic Ave S, Cascade Ave S and Riverside Dr. No on street parking is allowed on these 

25



streets unless a street use permit is obtained from the City’s Public Works Department and 
traffic control plan approved by the City. The applicant has previously obtained this permit for 
past events. The church has a fleet of three vans and two busses that will transport parishioners 
and festival attendees between these overflow parking areas and the church property. 
Pedestrian circulation within and access to the site will be improved via a sidewalk extension 
along Sperry Drive, marked crosswalk, distinctive pedestrian pathways from the parking areas 
to the Learning Center and church buildings, and a marked route and dedicated easement 
providing pedestrian public access to the shoreline.  
 
Outdoor noise associated with traffic or events held at the church could be heard from the 
adjacent Wells Fargo bank parcels and potentially across the river, where the primary uses are 
offices and warehouses operating during weekdays only.  As the church has existed in its 
current location and design for many years with minimal conflicts with the neighborhood and no 
additional increase in parishioners is anticipated, approval of the CUP will not decrease the 
church’s compatibility within the neighborhood.   
 
 
4. The proposed use shall be in keeping with the goals and policies of the Comprehensive 

Land Use Policy Plan.  
 
The proposed church expansion implements several goals and policies in the Tukwila Urban 
Center and Shoreline chapters of the 2015 Tukwila Comprehensive Plan.  
 
Chapter 10- Tukwila’s Urban Center 

10.2.4 Pedestrian Accessibility. Ensure that pedestrians have safe, convenient and comfortable 
paths from adjacent public ways to key building entrances. This could include utilizing 
driveways or internal streets with sidewalks for access to primary entrances, or by 
providing clearly marked pathways through large parking lots from the public sidewalks 
and from parked cars to key building entrances. There should be minimum interruption to 
the pedestrian pathway by driveways and other vehicular conflicts.  

 

Chapter 5- Shorelines 

5.4.2 Design and locate public access in a way that is appropriate for the site, depending on site 
conditions and private property concerns. 

5.5.1 Require that shoreline development outside of the MIC: • Ensures no net loss of shoreline 
function; • Is designed to be consistent with Tukwila river design guidelines; • Reflects 
principles of high-quality design in such areas as site planning, architecture and 
landscaping; and • Includes setbacks, bulk, height, density, landscape buffers and 
provisions for open space that enhance the shoreline environment 

 
The proposed redevelopment of the site includes dedicated public access and meets the design 
guidelines of the zone where its situated and the Shoreline, as well as the no net loss criteria of 

26



the Shoreline Master Plan. Improvements proposed to fulfill the above Tukwila Urban Center 
and Shoreline Comprehensive Plan policies include enhanced landscaping, better stormwater 
drainage design and a new stormwater detention tank, and sidewalk and pedestrian crossing 
upgrades.  
 
 
 
 
5. All measures shall be taken to minimize the possible adverse impacts which the 

proposed use may have on the area in which it is located. 
 
The possible adverse impacts stemming from the church’s expansion are minor and primarily 
limited to the parking impacts associated with the occasional large event or festival, and 
removal of trees in the Shoreline. As the parking spaces provided exceed code requirements for 
the church and school uses, the parking impacts are limited to the occasional events or festivals 
hosted by the church onsite. During these events or festivals, the site experiences a temporary 
increased demand for parking while the supply of parking spaces is decreased due to the 
construction of temporary stages and structures supporting the festival. The applicant has 
submitted a traffic management plan that utilizes offsite parking areas and the Church’s fleet of 
vehicles to transport festival attendees to and from the property; an additional 359 parking 
spaces are available to event attendees via these overflow parking spaces. The applicant shall 
be responsible for obtaining and recording a Shared or Covenant Parking Agreement between 
the subject property and the adjoining overflow parking area properties if either: the seating is 
expanded such that site does not meet the requirement of one parking space per four seats, or 
if the parking demand cannot be met on the property and there are off-site parking impacts as 
determined by the City. The language of the Shared or Covenant Parking Agreement shall be 
approved by the City and shall be consistent with TMC 18.56.070. Also, the applicant shall be 
responsible for obtaining a street use permit from the City’s Public Works Department to use on 
street parking on Olympic Ave S, Cascade Ave S and Riverside Drive. 
 
Additionally, the applicant shall adopt a Parking Management Program for special events that 
shall include the following: 
 
a) Information and education: Educate the congregation families to encourage them to carpool, 
use transit, bike, or walk to the church. 
b) Demand Reduction Strategies: Establish a preferred parking area for families and groups that 
carpool with four or more persons per car;  
c) Demand Management Strategies: Continue to implement measures to ensure that sufficient 
parking is available. These measures could include agreements with the surrounding 
businesses; shuttles; establishing a team of parking attendants to help direct drivers to available 
parking locations.  
 
The impact the removal of 5 trees may have on riverine habitat has been compensated for by 
planting 28 new evergreen plantings close to the levee (along the parking lot perimeter and 
between the church’s southern façade and the levee) and additional deciduous trees planted 
inside the parking areas and within the Shoreline Overlay.  
 
 

27



 

CONCLUSIONS 
1. Criteria 1: The improvements planned will improve vehicular and pedestrian circulation, 

create additional access to the trail and shoreline, and improve the quality of 
development significantly while maintaining the site’s use as a church serving the 
Catholic Vietnamese community in Tukwila and environs. The proposed use will not be 
materially detrimental to the public welfare or injurious to the property or improvements 
in the vicinity of the proposed use or in the district in which the subject property is 
situated.  

 
2. Criteria 2: The proposed church expansion meets the setback, landscaping, parking and 

building height standards of the Tukwila Urban Center- Workplace District, Commercial 
and Workplace Corridor standards for streets in the Tukwila Urban Center, and 
development standards required of projects within the Shoreline Overlay. The proposed 
use shall meet or exceed the performance standards that are required in the district it 
will occupy.  

 
3. Criteria 3: As the church has existed in its current location and design for many years 

with minimal conflicts with the neighborhood and no additional increase in parishioners is 
anticipated, approval of the CUP will not decrease the church’s compatibility within the 
neighborhood.  The proposed uses shall be compatible generally with the surrounding 
land uses in terms of traffic and pedestrian circulation, building and site design.  
 

4. Criteria 4: The project’s enhanced landscaping, better stormwater drainage design, new 
stormwater detention tank, and sidewalk and pedestrian crossing upgrades implement 
several Tukwila Urban Center and Shoreline Comprehensive Plan Policies.  
The proposed use shall be in keeping with the goals and policies of the Comprehensive 
Land Use Policy Plan.  
 

5. Criteria 5: The potential for parking impacts related to occasional events and festivals 
and habitat impacts stemming from the removal of 5 trees near the levee have been 
alleviated by a traffic management plan providing an additional 359 parking spaces and 
shuttle service via overflow parking lots, and the planting of 28 trees near the levee in 
and deciduous trees planted throughout the Shoreline parking areas. In order to alleviate 
any potential offsite parking impacts the applicant shall be responsible for obtaining and 
recording a Shared or Covenant Parking Agreement between the subject property and 
the adjoining overflow parking area properties if demand cannot be met onsite. Also, the 
applicant shall be responsible for obtaining a street use permit from the City’s Public 
Works Department to use on street parking on Olympic Ave S, Cascade Ave S and 
Riverside Drive. Additionally, the applicant shall adopt a Parking Management Program 
for special events.  
All measures have been taken to minimize the possible adverse impacts which the 
proposed use may have on the area in which it is located.  

 

28



RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends adoption of the above findings and conclusions and approval of the 
conditional use permit including Attachments A and B with the following conditions: 
 

 
1. The applicant shall be responsible for obtaining and recording a Shared or Covenant Parking 
Agreement between the subject property and the adjoining overflow parking area properties if 
either: the seating is expanded such that site does not meet the requirement of one parking 
space per four seats, or if the parking demand cannot be met on the property and there are off-
site parking impacts as determined by the City. The language of the Shared or Covenant 
Parking Agreement shall be approved by the City and shall be consistent with TMC 18.56.070. 
Also, the applicant shall be responsible for obtaining a street use permit from the City’s Public 
Works Department to use on street parking on Olympic Ave S, Cascade Ave S and Riverside 
Drive. 
 
2. The applicant shall adopt a Parking Management Program for special events that shall 
include the following: 
 
a) Information and education: Educate the congregation families to encourage them to carpool, 
use transit, bike, or walk to the church. 
b) Demand Reduction Strategies: Establish a preferred parking area for families and groups that 
carpool with four or more persons per car;  
c) Demand Management Strategies: Continue to implement measures to ensure that sufficient 
parking is available. These measures could include agreements with the surrounding 
businesses; shuttles; establishing a team of parking attendants to help direct drivers to available 
parking locations.  
 
 
Additionally, staff recommends that the expiration date of the conditional use permit be 
extended to match the expiration of the underlying shoreline substantial development permit. 
Under WAC 197-27-090, construction shall commence within two years of the effective date of 
the shoreline permit; and substantial development be complete within 5 years. One year 
extension can be granted by the Department of Community Development Director based on 
reasonable factors 

 

29



DESIGN REVIEW L18-0038 
 
Tukwila Municipal Code Table 18-1 specifies which criteria apply to developments meeting 
certain thresholds within the Tukwila Urban Center. The proposed church redevelopment is 
classified as “Other large‐scale new construction or exterior expansions” in the Workplace 
District, so the below criteria are applicable to the Design Review application.  
 
Tukwila Municipal Code 18.70.090 Nonconforming Landscape Areas requires all projects 
undergoing Design Review to comply with current landscaping requirements. The Board of 
Architectural Review may modify the requirements in circumstances where strict compliance 
would create substantial practical difficulties, the existing and proposed additional landscaping 
and screening materials together will adequately screen or buffer possible use incompatibilities, 
soften the barren appearance of parking or storage areas, and/or adequately enhance the 
premises appropriate to the use district and location of the site. 
 
In the following discussion, the District standards of the Workplace zone are described and the 
project’s adherence to the standards is discussed. Following the District standards, the project 
proposal is assessed for compliance with the Tukwila Urban Center’s Corridor Standards for 
Workplace and Commercial Corridors, the Supplemental Standards, and other parking and 
landscaping requirements.  
 
Finally, the Design Review criteria for commercial and light industrial projects from TMC Section 
18.60.050(B) are shown below in italics, followed by Staff’s comments on how the church 
redevelopment proposal compares to the guidelines.  
 
 
District-Based Standards 

I. District-Based Standards 
Structure Height (TMC 18.28.070): The Learning Center’s height is single-story and well below 
the 45 ft. height limit. The proposed church building reaches a maximum height of 45 feet for the 
habitable areas, which is in conformance with the building height restriction of 45 feet for the 
TUC-WP zone. Footnote 1 on Table 18-3- District Standards  states “portions of the building 
that extend above the primary building mass, such as non‐habitable space (clock towers, 
roof‐top cupolas, elevator and mechanical equipment enclosures), unenclosed space (roof deck 
trellises, gazebos), and other special architectural features, shall not exceed the maximum 
height requirement by more than 20 feet, provided they are set back a minimum of 10 feet from 
the edge of the roof (see also TMC 18.50.080).  

Maximum Block Face Length (TMC 18.28.080): The site does not propose any new streets, 
and Sperry Drive is less than 900 linear feet long.   

Side and Rear Setbacks and Landscaping Requirements (TMC 18.28.100-.110): Both the 
Learning Center and church buildings meet the 5-foot rear and side yard setback requirements. 
There are no landscaping requirements for side and rear yard setbacks in the TUC-WP District.   

 

30



II. Corridor-Based Standards  

S. 180th Street is classified as a Commercial Corridor and Sperry Drive is a Workplace Corridor. 
S. 180th Street is a public street maintained by the City while Sperry Drive is a private street; a 
tract jointly maintained by the church and Wells Fargo.  

Public Frontage Standards (TMC 18.28.150):  

Unfortunately, the steep slope forming the site’s northern boundary prevents construction of a 
sidewalk along S. 180th Street. There is currently no sidewalk here, and discussions with Public 
Works staff revealed there is no reasonably feasible alternative allowing for a sidewalk along 
this section of the street. Because there is no reasonable way to install a sidewalk along S. 
180th Street, the 6’ wide requirement can be waived. The landscaped steep slope from the 
Learning Center’s northern parking area to the street exceeds the 9 ft. of landscaping required 
of Commercial Corridors.  

The 15 ft. wide landscaping strip along the east side of Sperry Drive exceeds the 9 ft. of 
landscaping required of Workplace Corridors. The over pruned and struggling existing trees and 
gravel surface will be replaced by a mix of deciduous and evergreen trees, shrubs and 
groundcover. The sidewalk extension and pedestrian crossing along Sperry Dr. meet the 
frontage standards of Workplace Corridors. The infeasibility of a sidewalk along S. 180th Street, 
the presence of healthy trees on the west side of Sperry Drive and struggling trees on the east 
side of the street all combined to influence the proposed pedestrian improvements. The 
proposed configuration preserves the healthy, mature streetscape landscaping along the Wells 
Fargo parcels while improving mobility and connectivity.   

Building Orientation/Placement & Landscaping (TMC 18.28.160-.190):  

Neither S. 180th Street nor Sperry Drive require building orientation to the street. Both 
Commercial and Workplace Corridors allow parking in the front, rear or side yard. The proposed 
project has parking along S. 180th Street and Sperry Drive, and in front of, on the side and in the 
rear of buildings.  

  

III. Supplemental Standards  
Special Corner Feature (TMC 18.28.220): No special corner feature is planned; the criterion is 
not applicable.  

Landscaping Types and General Landscaping Requirements (TMC 18.28.230-.240): There 
is no requirement for landscaping in the setbacks, but both S. 180th Street and Sperry Drive 
corridor types require a 9’ wide landscaping strip at the back of the curb. Perimeter and interior 
landscaping square footage requirements of the Tukwila Urban Center and areas within the 
Shoreline have been satisfied. Landscaping islands and trees provided within the landscape 
islands are consistent with the code requirements. The City’s Urban Environmentalist has 
reviewed and approved the proposed plant material to ensure appropriate species selection and 
spacing. The applicant will need to provide irrigation plans and planting details in conformance 
with the TMC 18.28 with the building permit application as a condition of approval. 

31



The spacing of landscape islands in the parking lot is slightly modified for a section of parking 
just south and west of the Learning Center. A 30’ wide easement for the Flood Control District is 
required to route through this general area to the levee bank for levee maintenance purposes. 
An additional reason is that historically during the church’s Summer Festival, a stage has been 
placed in this area of the parking lot. The parish would like this area to remain free of structures 
and impediments not just for the easement but also to maintain the flexibility of placing a 
temporary stage here.  Accordingly, the landscaped islands are placed a little further apart than 
in other parking areas, yet still are placed no further than 150’ apart per a requirement of areas 
within the Shoreline Overlay.  TMC 18.28.240.B.6.b(3) provides for such accommodation: 
“Flexibility is allowed for the layout of parking lots and landscaped areas, but the goal is to 
provide shade from trees that are evenly distributed throughout the parking lot.”  

Open Space Regulations (TMC 18.28.250): Only multifamily residential and office uses are 
required to provide open space in the Workplace District; this criterion is not applicable.  

General Parking Requirements and Guidelines (TMC 18.28.260-.270): The proposed project 
provides 415 parking stalls, which is above the 360 number of parking stalls required for 
religious use and high school parking standards per number of classrooms. The parking lot 
meets requirements for compact car stalls, stall dimensions, setbacks, curb cuts, access, and 
provision of pedestrian walkways. Parking lot landscaping, layout, and bicycle parking are 
provided per code requirements. TMC 18.28.260.D.5.b. requires that pedestrian pathways be 
separated from vehicular parking and travel lanes by use of contrasting paving material, 
curbing, or landscaping and may be raised above the vehicular pavement. The site plan shows 
that the pedestrian pathways are 6’ wide, have small sections of concrete but are mostly 
comprised of warm-colored pervious pavement.   
 
Site Requirements (TMC 18.28.280): Pedestrian pathways through the parking area have 
been provided to facilitate pedestrian circulation and reduce plant damage from pedestrian 
traffic. The pedestrian crosswalks within the parking lot shall be finished with the same pervious 
pavement as that used in the plaza in order to enhance pedestrian safety, comfort, and the 
attractiveness of the site.  
 
 

Commercial and Light Industrial Design Review Criteria. The following criteria shall be 
considered in all cases, except that multi-family and hotel or motel developments shall use the 
multi-family, hotel and motel design review criteria; developments within the MUO, NCC and RC 
districts of the Tukwila International Boulevard corridor (see Figure 18-9) shall use the Tukwila 
International Boulevard design review criteria of this chapter; and developments within the TSO 
district shall use the Tukwila South design review criteria instead: 

 1. RELATIONSHIP OF STRUCTURE TO SITE.  

a. The site should be planned to accomplish a desirable transition with streetscape and to 
provide for adequate landscaping and pedestrian movement.  

b. Parking and service areas should be located, designed and screened to moderate the 
visual impact of large paved areas. 

32



 c. The height and scale of each building should be considered in relation to the site. 
 
Frontage improvements along Sperry Drive provide a significantly improved pedestrian 
environment, allow for public access to the Shoreline, and save the mature landscaping existing 
along the east side of the street. Protected and marked pathways within the site’s parking help 
to provide safe travel routes for pedestrians.  
 
The principle refuse and disposal area will remain in the same location after redevelopment, but 
with redevelopment, this area will be enclosed behind a split cmu wall with a door. This refuse 
area is behind the church in the loading and small parking area at the building’s southwest 
corner; it will be screened from the river by the existing grove of mature evergreen trees and the 
additional evergreens proposed to be planted between this parking and refuse area and the 
levee. The refuse area for the Learning Center is on the eastern elevation, on the southern side 
of the building. This refuse area will also be enclosed, with materials to match the Learning 
Center’s exterior building finishes.  
 
The project utilizes decorative awnings, roofline differentiation, variation in materials, vertical 
and horizontal modulation, and architectural details including weather-protection awnings for a 
second floor arcade and a stage to reduce the perceived scale and add visual interest. 
The proposed project meets the site design criteria.  
 

2. RELATIONSHIP OF STRUCTURE AND SITE TO ADJOINING AREA.  

a. Harmony of texture, lines and masses is encouraged.  
b. Appropriate landscape transition to adjoining properties should be provided.  
c. Public buildings and structures should be consistent with the established neighborhood 

character. 
 d. Compatibility of vehicular pedestrian circulation patterns and loading facilities in terms of 

safety, efficiency and convenience should be encouraged. 
e. Compatibility of on-site vehicular circulation with street circulation should be encouraged.  
 

The French colonial architectural style of the church has easily identifiable entrances, unifying 
the massing and notable architectural elements such as the dome and the bell towers and 
spires. Landscape transition to the river is provided with interior and perimeter parking lot 
landscaping improvements proposed, adding to the existing mature evergreen trees located on 
the site’s northeast and southern edges. The proposal’s vehicular traffic patterns will be 
modified and more organized with project approval, all paved areas will have the direction of 
traffic indicated by markings on the pavement. The vehicular entrances to the site are clearly 
defined by landscaping improvements, and loading facilities are appropriately located behind 
the Learning Center and church buildings, screened from the street. The design criteria are met.  
 

3.  LANDSCAPING AND SITE TREATMENT. 

a. Where existing topographic patterns contribute to beauty and utility of a development, they 
should be recognized, preserved and enhanced.  

33



b. Grades of walks, parking spaces, terraces and other paved areas should promote safety, 
and provide an inviting and stable appearance.  

c. Landscape treatment should enhance architectural features, strengthen vistas and 
important axis, and provide shade.  

d. In locations where plants will be susceptible to injury by pedestrian or motor traffic, 
mitigating steps should be taken.  

e. Where building sites limit planting, the placement of trees or shrubs in paved areas is 
encouraged.  

f. Screening of service yards and other places that tend to be unsightly should be 
accomplished by use of walls, fencing, planting or combination.  

g. In areas where general planting will not prosper, other materials such as fences, walls and 
pavings of wood, brick, stone or gravel may be used.  

h. Exterior lighting, when used, should enhance the building design and the adjoining 
landscape. Lighting standards and fixtures should be of a design and size compatible with 
the building and adjacent area. Lighting should be shielded, and restrained in design. 
Excessive brightness and brilliant colors should be avoided. 

 
The site is bordered on three sides by the Green River and the Green River Trail. This 
significant amenity will be enhanced with the landscaping improvements and public access 
provided for by the redevelopment proposal. The potential for shading along the river’s edge in 
particular has increased substantially by the proposal, with 28 large western red cedar and 
Douglas Fir trees proposed for the area about 125’ from the OHWM; the closest area to the river 
that the church may plant trees due to the restriction of vegetative plantings on the levee berm.  
 
Throughout the new parking areas, landscaped islands are positioned no more than 150 feet 
apart. These landscaped areas are planted with deciduous trees, shrubs and groundcover. The 
plans show 4,457 sf² of new landscaping proposed with project approval. There are small 
landscaped areas framing the church’s northern facade adjacent to the ramps to the sanctuary, 
between the two entrances, and hugging the building’s northeast corner, enhancing the church’s 
architectural features. The landscaping plan submitted at this time does not include planting, soil 
and irrigation details. At the time of building plan submittal, applicant shall submit irrigation and 
planting details in conformance with the requirements of TMC 18.28; Tukwila Urban Center. 

 
 
Frontage improvements along Sperry Drive provide a significantly improved pedestrian 
environment, allow for public access to the Shoreline, and save the mature landscaping existing 
along the east side of the street. Protected and marked pathways within the site’s parking help 
to provide safe travel routes for pedestrians. A pervious pavement open plaza along the 
church’s northern entrances provides open space for parishioners to mingle and gather before 
and after services. 
 
The principle refuse and disposal area will remain in the same location after redevelopment, but 
with redevelopment, this area will be enclosed behind a split cmu wall with a door. This refuse 
area is behind the church in the loading and small parking area at the building’s southwest 

34



corner; it will be screened from the river by the existing grove of mature evergreen trees and the 
additional evergreens proposed to be planted between this parking and refuse area and the 
levee. The refuse area for the Learning Center is on the eastern elevation, on the southern side 
of the building. 

 
The exterior pole-style lighting fixtures are compatible with the building design, and are 
designed to shield the river from artificial light from the site. Building-mounted fixtures are 
proposed. Downward- facing sconces will be used to provide lighting for walkways, entrances 
and public areas adjacent to the church and Learning Center.  
 

4. BUILDING DESIGN. 

a. Architectural style is not restricted; evaluation of a project should be based on quality of its 
design and relationship to its surroundings.  

b. Buildings should be to appropriate scale and in harmony with permanent neighboring 
developments.  

c. Building components such as windows, doors, eaves, and parapets should have good 
proportions and relationship to one another. Building components and ancillary parts shall 
be consistent with anticipated life of the structure.  

d. Colors should be harmonious, with bright or brilliant colors used only for accent.  
e. Mechanical equipment or other utility hardware on roof, ground or buildings should be 

screened from view.  
f. Exterior lighting should be part of the architectural concept. Fixtures, standards, and all 

exposed accessories should be harmonious with building design.  
g. Monotony of design in single or multiple building projects should be avoided. Variety of 

detail, form and siting should be used to provide visual interest. 
 

 
The project meets the design criteria, with conditions. The French colonial architectural style of 
the church has easily identifiable entrances, unifies the massing and notable architectural 
elements such as the dome and the bell towers and spires. The primary entrance to the church 
on the north side of the building has high visibility (large concrete steps to the entrance, framed 
by tall bell towers) and is consistent with the building’s architectural style. The Learning Center 
is a secondary building on the site and is appropriately designed to be less prominent than the 
church, including the location and design of the entrances.  
 
The project utilizes decorative awnings, roofline differentiation, variation in materials, vertical 
and horizontal modulation, and architectural details including weather-protection awnings for a 
second floor arcade and a stage to reduce the perceived scale and add visual interest. The 
ground floor facade of both the church and Learning Center is finished with a stone veneer (first 
4’ of building height) to provide horizontal articulation and a durable and distinct base. The clay 
tile of the church and Learning Center and metal ribbed roofing materials of the church are 
distinctive in color and materials from the façade finishes, distinguishing the tops of the buildings 
from the exterior walls.  Additionally, the religious architectural features of bell towers and a 

35



dome articulate distinctive rooflines for the church building. All facades of the Learning Center 
will be renovated to match the church’s warm beige coloring and clay roofing tiles. The Learning 
Center will have Hardie Panel Vertical Siding in Sail Cloth, a pale tan color matching the 
church’s façade. The Learning Center will have the same stone veneer treatment applied to the 
bottom 4’ of all facades (precast stone veneer- El Dorado Autumn Leaf) and will be reroofed in 
red clay roofing tiles (Boral Clay Tile- El Camino Blend). The applicant has proposed Stucco as 
an alternate material for Hardie Panel Vertical Siding. Also, Met Tile Metal Roofing Tile in 
Mission Clay color is proposed as an alternate material for roofing. The church building will use 
Nichiha Fiber Cement Panel in sandstone desert beige color with precast stone veneer- El 
Dorado Autumn Leaf along the base. Asc Ribbed metal roof is proposed for the dome and 
spires. Boral Clay Tile- El Camino Blend is proposed for the roof.  The applicant has proposed 
Stucco as an alternate material for Hardie Panel Vertical Siding and Fiber Cement panel. Also, 
Met Tile Metal Roofing Tile in Mission Clay color is proposed as an alternate material for clay 
roofing.  See Attachment H for photos of the proposed materials. Materials board shall be 
provided at the meeting. 
 
 
As no mechanical equipment or screening of equipment is shown on plans, the applicant will 
need to provide appropriate screening or renderings showing that all mechanical equipment will 
be screened from view at the time of building permit submittal. Staff recommends a condition 
requiring the applicant to provide appropriate screening or renderings showing that all 
mechanical equipment will be screened from view at the time of building permit submittal.  
The project is also subject to Shoreline Substantial Development permit and the design 
guidelines for properties within the shoreline zone are listed under TMC 18.44.110. These 
guidelines require screening of blank walls along the river. The landscape plan shall be revised 
to include trellises and vines or other vegetative screening to break up the massing of the large 
wall with no window openings on the south side of the church building.  

 

5.  MISCELLANEOUS STRUCTURES AND STREET FURNITURE. 

a. Miscellaneous structures and street furniture should be designed to be part of the 
architectural concept of design and landscape. Materials should be compatible with 
buildings, scale should be appropriate, colors should be in harmony with buildings and 
surroundings, and proportions should be to scale.  

b. Lighting in connection with miscellaneous structures and street furniture should meet the 
guidelines applicable to site, landscape and buildings. 

Miscellaneous features onsite are limited to the signage required for the designated public 
access, whose design is limited by conditions of the Shoreline Substantial Development Permit 
and the requirements of the Shoreline code, TMC Chapter 18.44. The lighting proposed along 
pedestrian pathways internal to the site is sufficient for the use of pedestrians using the public 
access pathway. This design criteria is met.   

 

36



CONCLUSIONS 

1. The proposed project complies with the applicable District Based Standards; Corridor 
Based Standards and Supplemental Standards of the TMC 18.28 for the subject 
property; which lies in the TUC-WP zone. 

2. The proposed project complies with the design review criteria listed under TMC 
18.60.050 B. 

3. The project complies with design guidelines for buildings in the shoreline zone as listed 
under TMC 18.44.110; provided additional vegetative screening is included to break up 
the massing of the blank wall on the south side of the church building. 

4. The landscape plan submitted with the design review application needs additional details 
including irrigation, planting and soil details. A complete landscaping plan that includes 
all the details in conformance with the requirements of TMC 18.28 shall be submitted 
with the building permit. 

5. Screening details for the mechanical equipment shall be required as part of the building 
permit submittal.  

 
RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends adoption of the above findings and design review approval for the 
Vietnamese Martyrs expansion with the conditions below: 

1. At the time of building plan submittal, submit a complete and detailed 
landscaping plan that includes irrigation, planting and soil details in 
conformance with the requirements of TMC 18.28; Tukwila Urban Center. 
The landscape plan shall be revised to include trellises and vines or other 
vegetative screening to break up the massing of the large wall with no 
window openings on the south side of the church building.  

  

2. At the time of building plan submittal, submit plans for screening mechanical 
equipment for the Learning Center and the church buildings, or create 
elevations and renderings showing that mechanical equipment will be 
screened from view.  

 

Additionally, staff recommends that the expiration date of the design review be extended to 
match the expiration of the underlying shoreline substantial development permit. Under WAC 
197-27-090, construction shall commence within two years of the effective date of the shoreline 
permit; and substantial development be complete within 5 years. One year extension can be 
granted by the Department of Community Development Director based on reasonable factors.  

37



38



 
 
 
 

 
January 3, 2019 

 
City of Tukwila – Department of Community Development 
Attn: Minnie Dhaliwal 
6300 Southcenter Blvd., Suite 100 
Tukwila, WA 98188 
 
 
RE:  Public Access Easement and King County Flood Control Easement 

 
Address: 6801 S. 180th Street (formerly 6841 & 6847 S. 180th Street) 
Reference #: PL18-0020 
Project Name: Vietnamese Martyrs Expansion 
 
 
 
Dear Ms. Dhaliwal, 
 
 
The existing King County Flood Control Easement will be amended and reinstated to indicate the new location 
between the blue lines of Exhibit A – 12/28/18.  
 
The proposed Public Access Easement will be recorded as a companion document to the King County Flood 
Control Easement to indicate the area between the red lines of Exhibit A – 12/28/18. The proposed Public Access 
Easement will be 6 feet wide and located over part of the southern side of the 30 feet wide King County Flood 
Control Easement. 
 
Broderick Architects will continue to work with King County officials to record the aforementioned easements. 
Please contact me if you have any questions or concerns regarding his matter. 
 
Thank you for your help with this project. 
 
 
 
Sincerely, 

 
   (Sean) John J. Hill 

39

wynetta
Text Box
ATTACHMENT BHappy New Year!  Unfortunately, the only times I’m available to meet this week is possibly Wednesday afternoon or Thursday morning.I will be out of the office Thursday afternoon through the remainder of the week. 



40



NO
.

DA
TE

DE
SC

RI
PT

IO
N

TH
IS

 D
OC

UM
EN

T 
RE

PR
ES

EN
TS

 A 
PR

OP
RI

ET
AR

Y 
DE

SI
GN

 O
W

NE
D 

BY
 T

HE
 A

RC
HI

TE
CT

 A
ND

 S
HA

LL
 N

OT
 B

E 
US

ED
 O

N 
OT

HE
R 

PR
OJ

EC
TS

 O
R 

AD
DI

TI
ON

S 
TO

 T
HI

S 
PR

OJ
EC

T 
OR

 F
OR

 C
OM

PL
ET

IO
N 

OF
 T

HI
S 

PR
OJ

EC
T 

BY
 O

TH
ER

S 
EX

CE
PT

 B
Y 

PR
IO

R 
AR

RA
NG

EM
EN

T 
IN

 W
IR

TI
NG

   C
OP

YR
IG

HT
 ©

 8:
22

 A
M 

ON
 M

on
da

y, 
No

ve
mb

er
 19

, 2
01

8 B
Y 

BR
OD

ER
IC

K 
AR

CH
IT

EC
TS

, P
LL

C

68
01

 S
. 1

80
TH

 S
TR

EE
T 

•
 T

U
K

W
IL

A
, W

A
  9

81
88

#P
ln 

    
    

Pl
ot 

Da
te:

 11
/19

/18
  S

ea
n H

ill 
    

Ne
w_

Vi
etn

am
es

e_
Ma

rty
rs_

Ma
ste

r_
Pl

an
_A

C_
21

.pl
n

V
IE

TN
A

M
ES

E 
M

A
RT

Y
R

S 
PA

R
IS

H
:

LE
A

R
N

IN
G

 C
EN

TE
R

 A
D

D
IT

IO
N

 A
N

D
 C

H
U

R
C

H
 E

X
PA

N
SI

O
N

A5
LANDSCAPE PLAN

C
O

N
D

IT
IO

N
A

L 
U

SE
 P

ER
M

IT
 A

PP
LI

C
AT

IO
N

4/2/18

1 
   

   
 9

/2
5/

18
   

RE
VI

SE
D 

DR
AW

ING
S

EP-01 EP-04

EP-05

CL

CL

DS-19

DS-18DS-17

DS-08

DS-10

DS-14

DS-13

DS-12

66.6' TO PROP. LINE

94
.0'

 T
O 

PR
OP

. L
IN

E

39
.1'

TO
 P

RO
P. 

LIN
E

60.0' TO PROP. LINE

207.1' TO PROP. LINE

189.5' TO PROP. LINE

80.2' TO PROP. LINE

55.8' TO O.H.W.

49.1' TO O.H.W.

75.8' TO O.H.W.

43
.7'

 T
O 

O.
H.

W
.

8.5
'

TY
P.

RO
W

11.0'
8.5'

8.0
'

TY
P.

RO
W

18.0'
TYP. ROW

21.0'
TYP. ROW

21.0'

18.0'
TYP. ROW

8.8
'

TY
P. 

RO
W

16.0'
TYP. ROW

8.8
'

TY
P. 

RO
W

16.0'
TYP. ROW

8.1
'

TY
P. 

RO
W

16.0'

8.1
'

TY
P. 

RO
W

16.0'
TYP. ROW

9.2
'

TY
P. 

RO
W

19.0'
TYP. ROW

19.1'
AISLE

25.0'
AISLE

24.0'
AISLE

8.5'
TYP.
ROW

19.0'

TYP. ROW

8.5'
TYP.
ROW

19.0'

TYP. ROW

30.0'

16" TYP.

8.0'TYP. (C)

8.5'
TYP. ROW

21.0'

TYP. ROW

8.5'TYP.ROW15.0'

TYP. ROW

8.5
'

TY
P.

ROW 21.0'

TYP. ROW

18.1'
AISLE

8.5
'

TY
P.

ROW

23.0'

ENTRANCE

21.0'

TYP. ROW

17.5'
AISLE

8.6'
TYP.
ROW

19.0'

TYP. ROW

25.0'
AISLE

30.0'

30.0'

8.0'(C)
8.5'TYP.

ROW

19.0'
AISLE

21.0'

20
.5'

AI
SL

E

20.5'
EXIT

30.0'
ENTRY/EXIT

25.0'
AISLE

22.0'
AISLE

20.0'
AISLE

12.0'
TYPICAL

ROAD
WIDTH

9.0'

16.0'

18.0'
TYP. (C)

8.5
'

TY
P.

ROW

21.0'

TYP. ROW

8.5'
TYP.
ROW

19.0'

TYP. ROW

8.5'
TYP.
ROW

19.0'

TYP. ROW

12
.0'

TY
PI

CA
L

RO
AD

 
W

ID
TH

12.
0'

TY
PICAL

ROAD 
WIDTH

12.0'
TYPICAL
ROAD 
WIDTH

8.5'
TYP.
ROW

19.0'

TYP. ROW

25.0'
AISLE

17.5'
AISLE

60°

60°

60°

60°60°

30°

60°

60°

60°

60°

2
A5

2
A5

OUTLINE OF
PROPOSED BLDG

OUTLINE OF
PROPOSED BLDG

EXTENSION TO PAVED
ACCESS ROAD. ACCESS
ROAD SHALL BE MIN.
12'-0" WIDE

EXISTING TREES
TO REMAIN

LEVEE PROTECION EASEMENT
NO. 20101004002883

BIORETENTION
CELL

POWER POLE

ADDITIONAL EVERGREEN
TREES PROVIDED TO MEET
PERIMETER TREE REQ'MT

NOTE: FUTURE EASEMENT
FOR LEVEE MAINTENANCE

TO BE PROVIDED THIS AREA

ELECTRIC CAR
CHARGING (2 STALLS)

PROPOSED LOCATION
OF NEW HYDRANT

TRASH/RECYCLING
ENCLOSURE

TRASH/RECYCLING
ENCLOSURE

5'CLF

5'C
LF

5'C
LF

S1°13'41"W
50.00'

FUEL
TANK

MH
RIM=29.34

FLAG POLE

LUM (E)

24"PINE

30"PINE

LUM (E)

12"FIR
16"FIR

GM(INACTIVE)

16"FIR

12"FIR

12"FIR

12"FIR

12"FIR

18"FIR

16"FIR

LUM (E)

LUM (E)

CHAIN GATE

6.9
'

11
4.3

'

10.9'

1.8'

11
1.7

'

118.6'

33
.8'

CO
NC

PL
AN

TE
R

PL
AN

TE
R

PL
AN

TE
R

4' 
HI

GH
 C

HL

SO
UT

H 
18

OT
H 

ST
RE

ET
(A

 D
ED

IC
AT

ED
 P

UB
LIC

 R
IG

HT
 O

F 
W

AY
)

SPERRY DRIVE
(A PRIVATE STREET)

PL
AN

TE
R

TOP OF LEVEE

CO
NC

. S
ID

W
AL

K

S8
8°

05
'55

"E
  8

91
.91

'(M
)

CO
NC

. B
RI

DG
E

BRIDGE EXPANSION JOINT

18"DEC 18"DEC 20"DEC 18"DEC 24"DEC

TOP

TOP

TOP

TOP

TOP

TOP

TOP 14"DEC
14"DEC

14"DEC

16"DEC
8"DEC

14"DEC
10"DEC

14"DEC

10"DEC

12"DEC
10"DEC

14
"D

EC
 C

LU
ST

ER
20

"D
EC

 C
LU

ST
ER

24"DEC CLUSTER

18"DEC CLUSTER

CONC. RET. WALL W/ 6' HIGH CHL

16
"D

EC
 C

LU
ST

ER

43
1.8

0'(
C)

TOP

TOP

TOP

TOP

TOP

BRICK
COLUMNS (TYP.)

COVERED
WALKWAY

EDGE OF CONC. BRIDGE

CANOPY

CANOPY

IRRIGATION TANK
ON WOOD PLATFORM

IRRIGATION TANK

ON WOOD PLATFORM

OIL /W
ATER SEPARATOR

NO
RT

H 
LIN

E 
OF

 G
OV

ER
NM

EN
T 

LO
T 

4
AN

D 
RI

GH
T 

OF
 W

AY
 C

EN
TE

RL
IN

E 
OF

 S
OU

TH
 18

0T
H 

ST

9 PS
1 PS

1 PS

13PS

10PS

11 PS

13PS

42
PS

6 PS

13
PS

1 PS2 PS4 PS

3 P
S

6 P
S

13 PS

30' W
IDE

EASEMENT

CO
MP

.
(C

)

VAN

VAN

SITE PLAN NOTES

NEW LANDSCAPING - SEE: LANDSCAPE PLAN

PHASE 1 - LEARNING CENTER ADDITION,
PARKING LOT AND LANDSCAPING

PHASE 2 - DEMOLITION OF EXISTING, NEW
CHURCH WITH OFFICES OVER COVERED PARKING

PHASE 3 - RENOVATION OF EXISTING HALL
AND CAFETERIA

9 PS

6 PS

GREEN RIVER

PLANTING BED
WITH ORNAMENTAL
TREES

STAMPED CONCRETE
(RED BRICK ) TYPICAL
IN FRONT OF CHURCH

OHWM/TOE

PROPERTY LINE

TOE OF LEVEE

200' SHORELINE

SETBACK LNE

125' LEVEE

SETBACK LNE

125' LEVEE

SETBACK LINE

75' LEVEE
SETBACK LINE

ACCESS FOR LEVEE
MAINTENANCE

9 PS

(C
)

(C
)

(C
)

(C
)

(C
)

(C
)

(C
)

(C
)

(C
)

(C
)

(C
)

(C
)

(C
)

CO
MP

.
(C

)
(C

)

(C
)

(C
)

(C
)

(C
)

CO
MP

.
(C

)

(C
)

(C
)

(C
)

(C
)

(C
)

(C
)

(C
)

(C
)

(C
)

(C
)

(C
)

(C
)

(C
)

(C
)

(C
)

(C
)

(C
)

(C
)

(C
)

(C
)

(C
)

(C
)

(C
)

(C
)

(C
)

(C
)

(C
)

(C
)

(C
)

(C
)

(C
)

(C
)

(C
)

(C
)

9

(C)
(C)

(C)

(C)

(C)
(C)

(C)

(C
)

CO
MP

.
(C

)

CO
MP

.
(C

)

COMP.
(C)

(C
)

(C
)

(C)

(C)
(C)

(C
)

(C
)

(C
)

(C
)

(C
)

(C
)

(C
)

(C
)

(C
)

(C
)

C.L. OF CHURCH DOME

COMP.
(C)

(C)
(C)

(C)
(C)

(C)
(C)

13 PS12 PS

3 PS

17 PS 17 PS 15 PS

2 PS

6 PS

7 PS 7 PS

2 PS 8 PS

10 PS

1 PS

8 PS

7 PS

8 PS

7 PS

8 PS

4 PS

9 PS

10 PS

3 PS

12 PS

8 PS

6 PS

LEARNING CENTER
BUILDING

CHURCH
BUILDING

EXISTING
BUILDING

GREEN RIVER

GREEN RIVER

BICYCLE PARKING
(12 STALLS)

(E) (E)

NO WORK

NO WORK

NO WORK

NO WORK

8 PS

24"CED

DL-14

DL-16
DL-15

DS-01 DS-02

EP-07 EP-08

DL-06

DL-07

DL-17

DL-18

DS-03

DS-04

DR-01

ES-16

DR-12

DS-15

DR-13

DR-11

EP-14

DR-04

EP-06

DR-07

DS-16

DR-09

DL-05

DL-03

DL-02

ES-15
EP-13

DR-08

DR-10

DR-05

ES-17

DR-06

DR-03

DL-04
DL-01

DL-08

DS-06DS-05

EP-11

ES-19

DS-11

DS-09

EA-06

EA-02

EA-01

EA-03

EA-04

EA-05

DL-13

EP-12

EP-03

DL-12
DL-11

EP-02

DL-10

EP-10

EP-09

ES-18

DR-02

DS-07

DL-09

EP-20

EP-21

EA-07

DL-12

8.5'TYP.
ROW

25.0'
AISLE

30
' W

ID
E 

EA
SE

ME
NT

(P
RO

PO
SE

D 
LO

CA
TI

ON
)

STATUARY OR
FOUNTAIN WITH
ROSE/FLOWER/HERB
PLANTING BED

DECIDUOUS        6"            3
CHERRY         8"            4
DOUGLAS FIR       18"           6
DOUGLAS FIR       16"           6
CEDAR          24"           8

TREE SPECIES SIZE OF TREE TO BE
REMOVED

NO. OF REPLACEMENT TREES
REQUIRED

A. TREES TO BE REMOVED IN SHORELINE AREA

SUB-TOTAL 27

B. TREES TO BE REMOVED OUTSIDE SHORELINE AREA.

TREE SPECIES SIZE OF TREE TO BE
REMOVED

NO. OF REPLACEMENT TREES
REQUIRED

CHERRY          8"            1
CHERRY         10"           1
CHERRY         12"           1
CHERRY         16"           1
CHERRY         18"           1
DECIDUOUS        10"           1
PINE           18"           1

SUB-TOTAL 7

TOTAL NUMBER OF REPLACEMENT TREES REQUIRED : 34

NOTE: Replacement tree calculations based on
Table 4 Tree Replacement Requirements SMP 9-10 C and the Tukwila
Municipal Code 18.28.24 Tree Replacement

EP-#

DR-#

EA-#

DL-#

 
18.28.130 
 
Frontage on 180th street does not comply with Corridor Standards 
Frontage on Sperry drive does not comply with Corridor Standards 
Corridor standards would require new sidewalk, planting strip, trees and lighting 
 
Note: Corridor based building requirements apply if existing building is destroyed to extent of 
more than 50% of its replacement cost (see page 18-55) 
 
Director can approve modification to Corridor Standards as Type 2 Decision 
 
Director may determine that a frontage improvement is required per Corridor Standards 
If there is “Intensification of Use” 
 
 
 
18.28.240    (item in italics pertain to shoreline jurisdiction) 
 
LANDSCAPING AT PERIMETER OF PARKING LOT 

• 5 Foot setback at perimeter of parking lot 

• 1 evergreen shrub per 4 linear feet of property line 
• Groundcover to cover 100% within 3 years (see planting details) 
• 1 tree every 20 lineal feet 

 
LANDSCAPING AT INTERIOR OF PARKING LOT 

• Lots adjacent to public streets require  
20 SF of landscaping per stall 

• Lots located behind buildings or screened from streets/public spaces require  
10 SF per stall 

• Landscaped islands must be minimum 6 Feet wide and 100 SF 
• Landscaped islands required at end of each parking row 
• 1 large-canopy tree or 2 medium-canopy trees per 100 SF of island, groundcover 

required 
• 10 SF of interior landscaping per 300 SF of paved surface  

• Landscaped Islands separated by no more than 150 Feet between islands 
 
Note: 1 parking stall equals approximately 162 SF (8.5x19) 
 
 
 
 
 

4'
-0

"M
IN

.

TREE & VEGETATION PROTECTION

TREE & VEGETATION FENCING AROUND
ENTIRE DRIP LINE ON PERMIT SITE.

ALTERNATIVE TREE PROTECTION, IF APPROVED
BY DPD, AS SHOWN ON SITE PLAN

MUST BE INSTALLED PRIOR TO DEMOLITION

TREE PROTECTION FENCING

1.
OR GROUND DISTURBANCE

2. KEPT IN PLACE FOR THE DURATION
OF CONSTRUCTION

3. NO SOIL DISTURBANCE OR ACTIVITY
ALLOWED WITHIN FENCED AREA, SUCH
AS MATERIAL STORAGE/STOCKPILING,
PARKING, EXCAVATION, DUMPING, OR WASHING

CANOPY DRIP LINE
DEFINES TREE &
VEGETATION
PROTECTION AREA

ORANGE MESH OR
CHAIN LINK FENCE

4. MODIFICATIONS OF THESE REQUIREMENTS
BY APPROVAL OF DPD PLANNER ONLY

5. IF ROOTS GREATER THAN 2 INCH FOUND
OUTSIDE OF FENCING, PROTECT BY HAND
EXCAVATION AND, IF NECESSARY, CUT
CLEANLY AND KEEP MOIST

MINIMIZE CONSTRUCTION ZONE

VEGETATION PROTECTION

1.

2. PROTECT VEGETATION OUTSIDE CONSTRUCTION
ZONE WITH FENCING AS SHOWN

3. USE 3 INCHES OR DEEPER WOOD CHIP
MULCH OUTSIDE FENCED AREAS TO
PROTECT FEEDER ROOTS

6. USE 3 INCHES OR DEEPER WOOD CHIP
MULCH OUTSIDE FENCED AREAS TO
PROTECT FEEDER ROOTS

TOP OF BANK ± (35)

OHWM/TOE ± (8)

SHORELINE JURISDICTIONSHORELINE JURISDICTION TUKWILA URBAN CENTER - WORKPLACE

PROPOSED
CHURCH

45'-0"
TOP OF ROOF

110'-0"
TOP OF STEEPLE

100 YEAR FLOOD ELEVATION ± (30.59)

LANDWARD TOE

SEE PLAN FOR LEVEE SETBACK LINESSEE PLAN FOR LEVEE SETBACK LINES

TOP OF BANK ± (35)

OHWM/TOE ± (8)

100 YEAR FLOOD ELEVATION ± (30.59)

ACCESS FOR LEVEE
MAINTENANCE

STALL TYPE

COMPACT COVERED

COMPACT SURFACE

EXISTING SURFACE

REGULAR COVERED

REGULAR SURFACE

QUANTITY

53

88

172

52

121

486

SYMBOL LANDSCAPE/ TREE TYPE

NEW EVERGREEN TREE -
PERIMETER

EXSTG EVERGREEN TREE -
PERIMETER

NEW SHRUBS & GROUNDCOVER -
PERIMETER

EXSTG DECIDUOUS TREE - ALONG
SPERRY DRIVE

NEW SHRUBS & GROUNDCOVER -
SPERRY DRIVE

NEW DECIDUOUS TREE - B/W
LEARNING CENTER & CHURCH

EXSTG EVERGRN TREE - B/W
LEARNING CTR & CHURCH

LANDSCAPE ISLAND - B/W
LEARNING CENTER & CHURCH

NEW DECIDUOUS TREE - B/W
CHURCH & RIVER

LANDSCAPE ISLAND - B/W CHURCH
& RIVER

NEW EVERGREEN TREE -
ADDITIONAL

NEW SHRUBS & GROUNDCOVER -
ADDITIONAL INTERIOR

EXISTING DECIDUOUS TREE

EXISTING EVERGREEN TREE

PERVIOUS PAVING

SL1

ID

EP-#

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

DL-#

N/A

N/A

DR-#

N/A

EA-#

N/A

N/A

N/A

QTY/#

21

3

4

5

1

38

2

19

13

13

7

22

21

7

33

10

DESCRIPTION

FIR, CEDAR

N/A

DECIDUOUS & EVERGREEN

N/A

DECIDUOUS & EVERGREEN

MAPLE, CHERRY, FLOWERING
PEAR, DOGWOOD

N/A

DECIDUOUS & EVERGREEN

MAPLE, CHERRY, FLOWERING
PEAR, DOGWOOD

DECIDUOUS & EVERGREEN

FIR, PINE, CEDAR

DECIDUOUS & EVERGREEN

N/A

N/A

PEDESTRIAN PATHWAYS &
PLAZAS

SEE: LUMINAIRE PLAN

AREA

3,778.27

905.14

4,231.18

1,521.00

1,618.33

4,603.01

576.57

2,480.11

1,551.64

1,955.03

1,310.28

6,198.40

3,684.36

1,767.99

20,617.68

359.90

REQ'D #/AREA

27 TREES*

2,650 SF

1,260 SF

19 TREES

1,900 SF

10 TREES

1,000 SF

*MEETS PRMTR
TREE REQ'T

ADDITIONAL TO
REQ'TS

N
1"   = 40'

1
A5

LANDSCAPE PLAN

LANDSCAPING REQUIREMENTS

1"   = 40'

2
A5

SITE SECTION EAST-WEST

PARKING STALL SCHEDULELANDSCAPE SCHEDULE

LANDSCAPE TOTAL AREAS (SEE LANDSCAPE SCHEDULE FOR OTHERS):

TOTAL AREA OF PAVING IN WORK AREAS:           95,974 SF
TOTAL AREA OF ISLAND LANDSCAPING IN WORK AREAS:       4,447 SF

TOTAL NUMBER OF STALLS

( 172 EXISTING STALLS)

( 15 ACCESSIBLE STALLS PROVIDED)

( 314 NEW STALLS)

29%

( 141 COMPACT STALLS = 29% OF TOTAL)

N/A

N/A

PE
RI

ME
TE

R
SP

ER
RY

 D
RI

VE
BE

TW
EE

N 
LE

AR
NI

NG
CE

NT
ER

 &
 C

HU
RC

H
BE

TW
EE

N
CH

UR
CH

 &
RI

VE
R

AD
D'

TL
 N

EW
LA

ND
SC

AP
E

LUMINAIRE - POLE LIGHT 9 LIGHTING FOR PARKING
LOT AND WALKWAYS

REGION

N/A

N/A

AD
D'

TL
 E

XS
TG

LA
ND

SC
AP

E
AD

D'
TL

LA
ND

SC
AP

E
EL

EM
EN

TS

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/AN/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

( 370 STALLS REQUIRED. SEE: PARKING REQUIREMENTS
MATRIX ON SHEET A4)

2 
   

   
 1

0/
15

/1
8 

 T
R

AS
H

/R
EC

YC
LI

N
G

  E
N

C
LO

SU
R

ES
  A

D
D

ED

± 12,000

41

sean
Text Box
PUBLIC ACCESS DRAWING 11/19/18

sean
Rectangle

sean
Line

sean
Line

sean
Arc

sean
Arc

sean
Line

sean
Line

sean
Arc

sean
Line

sean
Arc

sean
Arc

sean
Line

sean
Line

sean
Line

sean
Arc

sean
Arc

sean
Line

sean
Text Box
PUBLIC ACCESS EASEMENT

sean
Arrow

sean
Text Box
KING COUNTY FLOOD CONTROL EASEMENT

sean
Line

sean
Arrow

sean
Text Box
EXHIBIT A - 12/28/18

sean
Line



42



STAFF REPORT TO THE BOARD OF ARCHITECTURAL REVIEW 
DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 

Prepared January 14, 2019 

HEARING DATE: January 24, 2019 

STAFF CONTACT: Jaimie Reavis, Senior Planner 

NOTIFICATION: 
• Notice of Application posted on site and mailed to surrounding properties

and agencies with jurisdiction on September 7, 2018.
• Notice of Public Hearing published in the Seattle Times, posted on site, and

mailed to surrounding properties and agencies with jurisdiction
September 27, 2018. 

• Notice of Application posted on site and mailed to surrounding properties
and agencies with jurisdiction on December 27, 2018

• Notice of Public Hearing published in the Seattle Times, posted on site, and
mailed to surrounding properties and agencies with jurisdiction January
10, 2019. 

FILE NUMBERS: L18-0112 Variance 
L18-0065 Design Review Major Modification 
L08-079 Preliminary Subdivision 

ASSOCIATED FILES: E08-022 SEPA/Environmental Review 
L08-076 Public Hearing Design Review 
L12-005 Design Review Major Modification (Phasing Plan Approval) 
L14-0066 Final Subdivision for Phase 1 (City Council Approval) 

APPLICANT: Mike Overbeck 

REQUEST: Request for approval of a Variance, Design Review Major Modification and 
a new Subdivision Preliminary Plat approval for the Osterly Park 
Townhomes subdivision.  

LOCATION: 14424 34th Ave S (parcel #6391110000) 
14426 34th Ave S (parcel #0040000083) 
14401-14420 34th Lane S 
Parcel #s 6433600090 and 6433600110 

43



Non-Significance for this project on October 28, 2009. 

PUBLIC COMMENTS Emails from two owners of the existing townhomes in the Osterly Park 
Townhomes project were received during the original Notice of 
Application period for the previous hearing on the project held in October 
2018 and were included in the October 2018 packet. A new Notice of 
Application was issued for all three permit applications in December 2018, 
and there were no comments submitted in response to the new Notice of 
Application.  

RECOMMENDATIONS: L18-0112 Variance 
Staff recommends approval with conditions of the variance to zoning 
setback and landscape standards. 

L18-0065 Design Review Major Modification 
Staff recommends approval with conditions of the design review major 
modification.   

L08-079 Preliminary Subdivision 
Staff recommends approval with conditions of the Preliminary Subdivision 
application. 

ATTACHMENTS: 
A. Applicant’s narratives
B. Draft Codes, Covenants & Restrictions
C. Public Comments via Email
D. Plan Sheets for Phase 2

• Site Plan (L-1)
• Phase 2 Landscape Plan (L-2)
• Site Lighting & Photometric Study
• Building Elevations
• Plat of Osterly Park Townhomes (Sheets 1, 2, 3,4)
• Civil Plans (Road and Storm System Plan, Sanitary Sewer System Plan, Water Plan &

Profile, Gas Main Extension)

44

Osterly Park Townhomes (L18-0112, L18-0065, L08-079) 
Design Review Major Modification and Subdivision Preliminary Approval 
January 24, 2019 
Page 2 

COMPREHENSIVE 
PLAN DESIGNATION/ 
ZONING DISTRICTS:     High Density Residential (HDR) 

SEPA COMPLIANCE:   The City of Tukwila, as the lead agency for this project, issued a Determination of 



45

Osterly Park Townhomes (L18-0112, L18-0065, L08-079) 
Design Review Major Modification and Subdivision Preliminary Approval 
January 24, 2019 
Page 3 



FINDINGS 

PROJECT DESCRIPTION 

The Osterly Park Townhomes was the first townhouse project to receive approval following the March 
2008 adoption of Ordinance 2199 by the Tukwila City Council. Ordinance 2199 allows development of 
zero lot line and fee simple townhouses. The original project approved by the Board of Architectural 
Review (BAR) in November 2009 included an approximately 1.7-acre site with 31 townhouse units 
along with required landscaping, guest parking, utilities, access, recreation areas, and frontage 
improvements. The BAR subsequently approved a Phasing Plan and a Design Review Major 
Modification for the project in 2012 to allow construction of the project in two phases. Phase 1 
included construction of eight townhomes, private access lane and utilities to serve the first eight 
townhomes, and a temporary recreation space. Phase 1 received Final Subdivision Approval from the 
Tukwila City Council in 2016, after which the plat map and Codes, Covenants and Restrictions (CC&Rs) 
for Phase 1 were recorded, and the first eight townhomes were constructed.  

The original approval of Phase 2 
included the demolition of the 
existing buildings and 
redevelopment of the three parcels 
located at 14420, 14422, and 
14424 34th Ave S. The buildings at 
14420 34th Ave S and 14422 34th 
Ave S, shown in the blue shaded 
area at right, are proposed to 
remain as-is. The property located 
at 14424 34th Ave S is proposed to 
become Lot 24 of the Osterly Park 
Townhomes subdivision. Lot 24 will 
continue to be owned by the 
existing owner, Menstab Tzegai. A 
third story addition is proposed to 
be added by Mr. Overbeck, in exchange for an easement for a private access lane across the eastern 
portion of Lot 24 for Osterly Park Townhomes. The temporary recreation area recorded as part of 
Phase 1 (on the north side of Lot 24) will remain, will be owned by the Osterly Park Townhomes 
Homeowners Association, and will be among the shared recreation spaces for the Osterly Park 
Townhomes and the residents of Lot 24. Lot 24 will also have two parking spaces on the east side of its 
parcel within the private access lane for the Osterly Park Townhomes.  

The proposed revision to the site and building design of the townhomes and recreation spaces in Phase 
2 are subject to a Design Review Major Modification. The revised lot, recreation space, access and 
utilities configuration are subject to a new Subdivision Preliminary Approval. The Design Review Major 

46

Osterly Park Townhomes (L18-0112, L18-0065, L08-079) 
Design Review Major Modification and Subdivision Preliminary Approval 
January 24, 2019 
Page 4 



Modification also includes review of the third story addition to the building located on Lot 24. A 
Variance to setbacks and landscaping is requested to allow this third story addition to the building on 
Lot 24/14424 34th Ave S.  

VICINITY/SITE DESCRIPTION 

Site Description 
The project site is in the area east of 34th Ave S and south of S 144th St. Most of the project area of 
Phase 2 is on two existing parcels. An existing recreation tract and a parcel developed with a 4-unit 
condominium building located on Lot 24 of the subdivision map are also part of Phase 2. The eight 
existing unit lots developed in Phase 1 will share access, utilities, and recreation space with Phase 2. 
Access to the site will be from driveways located off S 144th Street and 34th Ave S.  

Existing Development 
Phase 1 of the Osterly Park Townhomes has frontage on the south side of S 144th St. Phase 1 included 
eight new townhomes on individual unit lots and an access and utilities tract.  

Phase 2 of the Osterly Park Townhomes will have approximately 80 feet of frontage along 34th Ave S. A 
single-family home from the 1940s was previously located on the site and demolished in 2013-2014.  

Surrounding Land Uses 
The Osterly Park Townhouse development site is located within the High Density Residential (HDR) 
zoning district, which allows for up to 22 dwelling units per net acre. The HDR zone is intended to 
provide a high-density, multiple-family district which is also compatible with commercial and office 
areas.  

The project site is adjacent to multifamily development on parcels located directly to the east, west, 
and south, which are also zoned HDR. The property directly to the east is developed with a large 
apartment complex (the La Roche apartments). Farther to the east is neighborhood retail including 
grocery and drug stores, and the newly constructed Tukwila Village development with multifamily 
housing and the Tukwila Library.  

To the south of the site is another large apartment complex (the Park Avenue Apartments). The three 
other parcels which border the project site on its south side are developed with smaller apartment 
complexes, including one duplex and two 4-plexes.  

Three parcels to the west of the entrance to the site off S 144th Street are zoned Medium Density 
Residential (MDR) and are developed with one single family home on each parcel. To the south of the 
MDR zone at the corner of S 144th Street and 34th Ave S is the High Density Residential (HDR) zone, 
including the three 4-plex properties originally proposed to be redeveloped as part of Phase 2. Farther 

47

Osterly Park Townhomes (L18-0112, L18-0065, L08-079) 
Design Review Major Modification and Subdivision Preliminary Approval 
January 24, 2019 
Page 5



west is an area zoned Neighborhood Commercial Center (NCC), developed with single family homes 
and small-scale commercial development.  

On the north side of S 144th Street, the area is zoned HDR and is developed with a large apartment 
complex (the Samara 1), a single-family home, and the Cascade View Park.  

Topography 
The area where the townhomes will be constructed is relatively flat. However, there is a grade 
difference between the townhouse development area and the properties located at 14420, 14422, and 
14424 34th Ave S. The grade slopes down from 34th Ave S to a low point on Lot 24, which sits three to 
five feet below the townhomes. A retaining wall on the north, east, and south sides of Lot 24 and the 
other 4-plex properties at 14420-14422 34th Ave S has recently been constructed by the applicant. 
Stairs proposed on the east and north sides of Lot 24 are to connect residents of Lot 24 to the shared 
parking and recreation spaces within the rest of the plat. 

Vegetation 
Existing vegetation on the site includes a lawn area originally installed as the temporary recreation 
space to serve Phase 1. This area is proposed to have additional landscaping and raised bed gardens for 
residents of Lot 24 and the Osterly Park Townhomes. The remainder of the project site has been 
cleared of any vegetation. 

Access 
There will be two access points to the Osterly Park Townhomes from public streets. These include 
driveways off 34th Ave S and S 144th Street. Vehicular access to the condominium building on Lot 24 will 
remain via a separate driveway off 34th Ave S which provides access to all three  buildings located at 
14420-14424 34th Ave S. Pedestrian access to the Osterly Park Townhomes private access road and the 
shared recreation space will be available to the residents of Lot 24 via stairs with gate entries through 
the wooden fence on the north and east sides of the property. 

REVIEW PROCESS 
The Variance to setback and landscaping requirements requested for the addition of the third story on 
the 14424 34th Ave S building is subject to the review criteria of Tukwila Municipal Code (TMC) section 
18.72.020. A Variance to zoning requirements is a Type 3 Decision made by the Hearing Examiner. This 
Variance request has been consolidated with the Preliminary Subdivision and Design Review Major 
Modification applications per TMC 18.104.030, to be heard before the Board of Architectural Review. 

The third-story addition to the building located on Lot 24 requires design review approval, since the 
cost of the exterior work will exceed 10% of the building’s assessed valuation. Review of the proposed 
changes to the building design are being included in the Design Review Major Modification for site and 
building design changes to the Osterly Park Townhomes. Multifamily building design is subject to the 
design review guidelines contained in the Multi-Family Design Manual.  

48

Osterly Park Townhomes (L18-0112, L18-0065, L08-079) 
Design Review Major Modification and Subdivision Preliminary Approval 
January 24, 2019 
Page 6 



Modifications to the originally-approved site and building design of Phase 2 of the Osterly Park 
Townhomes requires approval of a Design Review Major Modification. Townhouse development in 
Tukwila is restricted to the Medium Density Residential (MDR) and High Density Residential (HDR) 
zoning districts. According to 18.14.060, design review by the Board of Architectural Review is required 
for all multi-family structures over 1,500 square feet in size according to the criteria contained in TMC 
18.60.050.C. Design guidelines for townhouse development are contained in the Townhouse Design 
Manual. The Multi-Family Design Manual and the Townhouse Design Manual can be found under the 
“Planning Division Informational Documents” section of the following webpage: 
http://www.tukwilawa.gov/departments/permit-center/. 

Phase 2 of the Osterly Park Townhomes project proposes to subdivide two existing parcels into 15 unit 
lots, an access and utility tract and easement across 14424 34th Ave S, recreation tracts, additional 
recreation areas to be in easements and shared among Phase 1 and Phase 2 units, and the condo units 
located at 14424 34th Ave S. Any land being divided into ten or more unit lots shall receive preliminary 
plat approval by the Tukwila Planning Commission as a Type 4 decision according to the provisions of 
18.108.040.  

Once a townhouse project receives preliminary subdivision and design review approval by the Planning 
Commission/Board of Architectural Review, the applicant must apply for a Public Works permit for 
construction of project infrastructure. The project must receive final approval from the Tukwila City 
Council prior to construction of the dwelling units. 

REPORT ORGANIZATION 
This staff report has been divided into three sections.  The first section covers the Variance for setbacks 
and landscaping on Lot 24; the second covers the Design Review Major Modification; and the third 
section covers the new Subdivision Preliminary Plat. Staff’s conclusions and recommendations follow 
each section. 

49

Osterly Park Townhomes (L18-0112, L18-0065, L08-079) 
Design Review Major Modification and Subdivision Preliminary Approval 
January 24, 2019 
Page 7

http://www.tukwilawa.gov/departments/permit-center/


SECTION ONE – VARIANCE 
The existing building located on Lot 24 was 
constructed in 1968 when the underlying area 
was part of unincorporated King County. The 
property was part of the Cascade View 
annexation to Tukwila, which occurred in 1990. 
Existing building setbacks and landscaping 
requirements were not applicable to the Lot 24 
property at the time of the building’s 
construction. Existing setbacks and landscaping 
requirements for development in the HDR 
zone are included in the tables at right. 

The building on Lot 24 is set back 
approximately 45 feet from the south/front 
yard property line, 26 feet from the east side 
yard property line, 3.5 feet from the west side 
yard property line, and 8.5 feet from the rear 
yard property line on the building’s north side. 
Comparing existing building setbacks to the 
requirements at right, the building meets the 
requirements on the front and east side yards. 
The west and north sides of the building are 
nonconforming.  

The entire rear building elevation is nonconforming to the rear yard building setback requirement. The 
proposed third story addition to the existing building is proposed to be at the same setback on the 
north and west sides as the rest of the building and will not encroach any further into these 
nonconforming setback areas. Modulations 
have been designed on the south and east sides 
of the addition area, where both the existing 
building and the proposed addition will meet 
the required setbacks.  

Existing landscaping on the Lot 24 property is 
also nonconforming to the code requirements due to nonconforming setback widths. When 
incorporated into the Osterly Park Townhomes, the perimeter landscaping requirements apply to the 
entire site as a whole, making the front setback area along S 144th St; the second front along 34th Ave S, 
and sides along the south and east sides of the plat.  

50

Osterly Park Townhomes (L18-0112, L18-0065, L08-079) 
Design Review Major Modification and Subdivision Preliminary Approval 
January 24, 2019 
Page 8



DECISION CRITERIA – ZONING CODE VARIANCE 
Consideration of a request for variances to the zoning requirements of TMC Title 18 require a project 
to demonstrate conformance with the facts and conditions of TMC 18.72.020. Each of these facts and 
conditions are listed in italics, followed by staff’s assessment of project conformance. The applicant’s 
narrative of project conformance with the criteria are included as Attachment A.  

1) The variance shall not constitute a grant of special privilege inconsistent with the limitation upon
uses of other properties in the vicinity and in the zone in which the property on behalf of which the
application was filed is located.
The side and rear yard setback requirements for the second and third stories of the building are 20
feet from the property line. The third story addition along the north and west is not proposed to
extend any further into the required setback area than the existing second story of the building
already does. This is in conformance with TMC section 18.70.050, which allows additions or
enlargements to nonconforming structures if the work done does not extend further into any
required yard.

The site is also legally nonconforming with respect to perimeter landscaping requirements. Due to
the nonconforming building setback on the west and north sides of the building on Lot 24, the 10-
foot required side and rear yard landscaping width cannot be met. The project proposes to
enhance the existing landscaping on the site through the addition of plantings in the existing
setback areas on the west and north sides of Lot 24. As part of the Osterly Park Townhomes plat,
Lot 24 is able to count perimeter landscape areas of the plat as a whole towards meeting perimeter
landscape requirements.

2) The variance is necessary because of special circumstances relating to the size, shape, topography,
location or surrounding of the subject property in order to provide it with use rights and privileges
permitted to other properties in the vicinity and in the zone in which the subject property is located.
Lot 24 is located at the end of a driveway shared with 14420-14422 34th Ave S. The properties
located at 14420-14424 34th Ave S will likely need to be redeveloped all at the same time, since
they share common access and utilities. The grade differences between 34th Lane S serving the
Osterly Park Townhomes and the 14424 34th Ave S property also make it difficult for the 14424 34th

Ave S property to become part of the Osterly Park Townhomes project without the cooperation of
the other two 4-plex properties. Therefore, the 14424 34th Ave S building is effectively landlocked
and difficult to redevelop without cooperation of neighboring properties due to location. For the
Osterly Park Townhomes project, construction of the private lane extension and the water main
serving Phase 2 is dependent on use of the eastern portion of the Lot 24 (the 14424 34th Ave S
property). The addition of the third story to the existing building on Lot 24 is the arrangement Mr.
Overbeck has made with the owner of the 14424 34th Ave S property to provide compensation for
Osterly Park Townhomes’ use of the easement area. This arrangement allows the owner to
participate in the Osterly Park Townhomes project and improve his property in the absence of
complete redevelopment of all three properties at 14420-14424 34th Ave S.

51

Osterly Park Townhomes (L18-0112, L18-0065, L08-079) 
Design Review Major Modification and Subdivision Preliminary Approval 
January 24, 2019 
Page 9 



3) The granting of such variance will not be materially detrimental to the public welfare or injurious to
the property or improvements in the vicinity and in the zone in which the subject property is
situated.
The Building Division and Fire Department have reviewed the proposed addition to the building.
Per the Building Division, where the building does not meet a five-foot minimum setback, that
entire wall from foundation to the roof and extending 10 feet on the roof shall have a 3-hour
separation, or a 2-hour separation if sprinkled. There shall be no openings on that side (i.e.,
windows, ducts or similar). Engineering for the entire building shall be required for the additional
construction of the third floor. Per the Tukwila Fire Marshall, Lot 24 will require fire sprinklers and a
fire alarm system. This shall be installed per TMC 16.40 and TMC 16.42. These requirements are
recommended conditions of approval of this application, to be addressed as part of the building
permit for the addition to Lot 24.

The addition to the structure will add
housing to the City’s housing stock and
improve the aesthetics of the area.
The site is legally nonconforming with
respect to the number of parking
spaces. It has six existing parking
spaces for the four existing dwelling
units. Per TMC 18.70.080.B., if an
addition is proposed which requires an
increase in the parking area by an
increment less than 100%, the
requirements of the Off-street Parking
and Loading Regulations chapter shall
be complied with for the additional
parking area. Four additional spaces
are required for the two units
proposed with the third story addition.
Two additional spaces are proposed to be added to the existing parking area on the south side of
the building by restriping the existing parking spaces and removing part of a landscape island. Two
more spaces are proposed to be located on the east side of the property within 34th Lane S for Lot
24 building residents. Some cars are regularly parked illegally on the south side of the access road
to the 14420-14424 34th Ave S properties (including Lot 24). A condition of approval on the
Preliminary Subdivision application is being added to require the 20-foot area on the south side of
the parking areas of 14420-14424 be painted and signed as “no parking” as part of the Public
Works permit.

4) The authorization of such variance will not adversely affect the implementation of the
Comprehensive Land Use Policy Plan.
This variance is consistent with the following goals and policies of the Tukwila Comprehensive Plan:

52

Osterly Park Townhomes (L18-0112, L18-0065, L08-079) 
Design Review Major Modification and Subdivision Preliminary Approval 
January 24, 2019 
Page 10 



• 3.1.2 Work with residents and property owners to consider housing options that meet
current and future needs.

• 3.6.1 Encourage long-term residency by improving neighborhood quality, health and safety.
• 7.3.4 Use new development to foster a sense of community and replace lost vegetation and

open spaces with improvements of at least equal value to the community.
• Goal 7.4 Neighborhood Sustainability: Continuing enhancement and revitalization of

residential neighborhoods to encourage long-term residency and environmental
sustainability.

5) The granting of such variance is necessary for the preservation and enjoyment of a substantial
property right of the applicant possessed by the owners of other properties in the same zone or
vicinity.
In the absence of the ability to redevelop his property as originally planned, the granting of the
variance to allow the third story addition will allow the owner of Lot 24 to have his property
updated and improved. Inclusion of the Lot 24 building as part of the Osterly Park Townhomes
subdivision allows the development as a whole to achieve the density allowable within the HDR
district.

6) The need for the variance is not the result of deliberate actions of the applicant or property owner.
The original plan for the Osterly Park Townhomes was for the 14424 34th Ave S building on Lot 24
to be demolished and redeveloped. The applicant submitted the original design review and
subdivision permits for the Osterly Park Townhomes in 2008. Prior to 2008, Mr. Overbeck worked
with Tukwila on code revisions to support townhouse development in the City of Tukwila. The
original project approvals coincided with the economic downturn of the Great Recession, beyond
the applicant’s control. The downturn in the economy caused slower implementation of the project
than the applicant had originally planned, and the existing 4-plex properties at 14420-14424 34th

Ave S were not able to be acquired due to changes in ownership and economic circumstances.

CONCLUSIONS – ZONING CODE VARIANCE 
1. The existing building on Lot 24 does not meet side or rear yard setbacks on the west and north

sides respectively, nor does it meet landscaping standards.
2. The third story addition is not proposed to extend any further into nonconforming setback

areas than the existing building does. Per TMC section 18.70.050, additions or enlargements to
nonconforming structures may be allowed if the work done does not extend further into any
required yard.

3. Due to the nonconforming building setback on the west and north sides of the building on Lot
24, the 10-foot required side and rear yard landscaping width cannot be met. The project
proposes to enhance the existing landscaping on the site through the addition of plantings in
the setback area that does exist on the west and north sides of Lot 24.

4. The location of Lot 24 at the end of an access road used by the other 4-plexes at 14420-14422
34th Ave S landlocks the property in terms of access and ties its redevelopment to the other two
properties to the west. Approval of the variance allows the property owner to participate in the

53

Osterly Park Townhomes (L18-0112, L18-0065, L08-079) 
Design Review Major Modification and Subdivision Preliminary Approval 
January 24, 2019 
Page 11



Osterly Park Townhomes project in the absence of agreement to participate from the other two 
property owners at 14420-14422 34th Ave S. 

5. The recommended conditions of approval from the Tukwila Building Division and Fire
Department will help ensure granting of the variance will not be materially detrimental to the
public welfare or injurious to property or improvements in the vicinity and the zone in which
the subject property is located.

6. The proposal is consistent with the Tukwila Comprehensive Plan.

RECOMMENDATIONS – ZONING CODE VARIANCE 
Staff recommends approval of the major modification to the design of the Osterly Park Townhome 
project, subject to the following conditions in order to comply with the International Building Code: 

1. Where the building does not meet a five-foot minimum setback, that entire wall from
foundation to the roof and extending 10 feet on the roof shall have a 3-hour separation, or a 2-
hour separation if sprinkled. There shall be no openings on that side (i.e., windows, ducts or
similar).

2. Engineering for the entire building shall be required for the additional construction of the third
floor.

3. Lot 24 will require fire sprinklers and a fire alarm system. This shall be installed per TMC 16.40
and TMC 16.42.

SECTION TWO - DESIGN REVIEW MAJOR MODIFICATION 

DECISION CRITERIA - DESIGN REVIEW  
The Osterly Park Townhomes and the third story addition to the building on Lot 24 are subject 
to design review under 18.14.060 requiring multi-family structures to receive design review 
approval. The design criteria contained in TMC 18.60.050 (C) shall be used by the Board of 
Architectural Review in its decision making, as well as the Multi-Family Design Manual or 
Townhouse Design Manual. For this project, both design manuals apply. The townhomes are 
subject to the Townhouse Design Manual and the design of the third story addition to the Lot 
24 building is subject to the Multi-Family Design Manual. Both design manuals are online at 
http://www.tukwilawa.gov/dcd/dcdplan.html.  

The following is a discussion of the proposal in relation to the applicable architectural review 
criteria.  

I. SITE PLANNING
a. Building siting, architecture, and landscaping shall be integrated into and blend

harmoniously with the neighborhood building scale, natural environment, and development
characteristics as envisioned in the Comprehensive Plan. For instance, a multi-family
development's design need not be harmoniously integrated with adjacent single-family

54

Osterly Park Townhomes (L18-0112, L18-0065, L08-079) 
Design Review Major Modification and Subdivision Preliminary Approval 
January 24, 2019 
Page 12

http://www.tukwilawa.gov/dcd/dcdplan.html


structures if that existing single-family use is designated as "Commercial" or "High-Density 
Residential" in the Comprehensive Plan. However, a "Low-Density Residential" (detached 
single-family) designation would require such harmonious design integration.  

b. Natural features, which contribute to desirable neighborhood character, shall be preserved
to the maximum extent possible. Natural features include, but are not limited to, existing
significant trees and stands of trees, wetlands, streams, and significant topographic
features.

c. The site plan shall use landscaping and building shapes to form an aesthetically pleasing and
pedestrian scale streetscape. This shall include, but not be limited to facilitating pedestrian
travel along the street, using architecture and landscaping to provide a desirable transition
from streetscape to the building, and providing an integrated linkage from pedestrian and
vehicular facilities to building entries.

d. Pedestrian and vehicular entries shall provide a high-quality visual focus using building
siting, shapes and landscaping. Such a feature establishes a physical transition between the
project and public areas, and establishes the initial sense of high quality development.

e. Vehicular circulation design shall minimize driveway intersections with the street.
f. Site perimeter design (i.e., landscaping, structures, and horizontal width) shall be

coordinated with site development to ensure a harmonious transition between adjacent
projects.

g. Varying degrees of privacy for the individual residents shall be provided, increasing from the
public right-of-way, to common areas, to individual residences. This can be accomplished
through the use of symbolic and actual physical barriers to define the degrees of privacy
appropriate to specific site area functions.

h. Parking and service areas shall be located, designed and screened to interrupt and reduce
the visual impact of large paved areas.

i. The height, bulk, footprint and scale of each building shall be in harmony with its site and
adjacent long-term structures.

Circulation (Pedestrian and Vehicular) 
The project design reflects the originally approved design from 2009 through construction of an 
L-shaped private access lane for vehicular and pedestrian access from S 144th Street and 34th

Ave S.

Phase 2 includes sidewalks linked to recreation areas, and on-street parking. Proposed 
sidewalks link to the townhome unit entries, except for those located on the south side of the 
private access drive that will have garage and front doors on the same building elevation. Staff 
recommends a condition of approval to require the pavement area outside of the units having 
garage and front doors on the same building elevation be colored and patterned material 
similar the shared garage access areas, to symbolize shared use of the private road area for 
pedestrians and vehicles.  

55

Osterly Park Townhomes (L18-0112, L18-0065, L08-079) 
Design Review Major Modification and Subdivision Preliminary Approval 
January 24, 2019 
Page 13 



Two pedestrian crossings of the private access road are proposed to connect to recreation 
spaces within the development. Pedestrian crossings of the private access road are proposed to 
be constructed of concrete to be more visually prominent and to enhance pedestrian safety 
within the development. 

The site design visually and functionally separates Lot 24 from the Osterly Park Townhomes. A 
separate primary vehicle and pedestrian entrance provides access to Lot 24, as well as the 
buildings located at 14420-1442234th Ave S. Access from Lot 24 to the rest of the Osterly Park 
Townhomes plat is limited to 
pedestrian connections. Gates on 
the north and east sides of Lot 24 
are proposed to be constructed 
within the wood fences separating 
Lot 24 from the Osterly Park 
Townhomes to allow residents of 
Lot 24 to connect to the Osterly 
Park Townhomes parking and 
recreation spaces. A walkway exists 
on the east side of the building on 
Lot 24 to connect residents to the 
stairs up to the Osterly Park 
Townhomes development. 
However, there is no walkway from 
the building entrance to the 
walkway on the east side of the 
building. Staff recommends a 
condition of approval to require 
stepping stone pavers be placed 
within the landscape and drainage 
area on the south side of the 
building on Lot 24 (shown in dashed 
white line areas at right) to provide a pathway connecting from the building entrance to the 
east side of the building. A similar treatment should also be provided on the north side of the 
building to connect pedestrians to the stairs proposed to connect Lot 24 residents to the 
recreation space.  

Parking 
Tukwila parking requirements contained in TMC 18.56.065 require two off-street parking 
spaces for each dwelling unit which contains up to three bedrooms. Each of the townhomes will 
have three bedrooms, with an attached garage for two cars. The existing private access lane for 
Phase 1 includes two guest parking spaces. These spaces will be removed when the private 
access lane is extended as an L-shaped private access lane connecting from S. 144th St. to 34th 

56

Osterly Park Townhomes (L18-0112, L18-0065, L08-079) 
Design Review Major Modification and Subdivision Preliminary Approval 
January 24, 2019 
Page 14



Ave S. Six new on-street guest parking spaces for the Osterly Park Townhomes will be located 
on the north side of the private access lane constructed for Phase 2.  

Most of the parking for residents of Lot 24 will be located on the south side of the Lot 24 
building, accessed off the separate driveway for 14420-14424 34th Ave S. There are six existing 
surface parking stalls on the south side of the Lot 24 building serving the four existing units in 
the building. For the addition of two more units to the Lot 24 building, four additional off-street 
parking spaces are required. Existing landscaping island areas on the west and east sides of the 
existing parking stalls will be removed and existing parking restriped to add two more parking 
spaces. The remaining two required spaces for Lot 24 are proposed to be on-street stalls on the 
west side of 34th Lane S (the private access lane for the Osterly Park Townhomes). Residents of 
Lot 24 using these stalls will use the Osterly Park Townhomes private access lane to access the 
parking stalls and will connect from the parking spaces to Lot 24 through the pedestrian gate 
located on the east side of Lot 24. 

Crime Prevention 
The design of this project includes multiple 
elements to promote crime prevention. 
Landscaping is clustered to help physically 
and symbolically separate shared 
recreation spaces from private recreation 
spaces on individual unit lots. Recreation 
spaces and on-street parking spaces are in 
areas easily seen from the private access 
lane and from adjacent townhomes.  

A six-foot tall, wooden perimeter fence 
will separate the Osterly Park Townhomes 
site from adjacent properties, including 
the 14420-14424 34th Ave S buildings that 
were originally proposed to be demolished 
as part of this project. The design of the wooden fence along the street frontage of 34th Ave S 
will be consistent with the design of the fence at the existing project entry off S 144th St (see 
picture above).  

A fence is proposed to close off the rear and side yard areas of the Lot 24 building, to limit 
access from Lot 24 to the Osterly Park Townhomes development to Lot 24 residents only. 
Residents of the other 4-plex buildings located at 14420-14422 34th Ave S will not be able to 
pass through the yard of the Lot 24 building to connect to the private lane within the Osterly 
Park Townhomes site.  

57

Osterly Park Townhomes (L18-0112, L18-0065, L08-079) 
Design Review Major Modification and Subdivision Preliminary Approval 
January 24, 2019 
Page 15



The applicant has discussed installation of a gate for security at both vehicular entries to the 
Osterly Park Townhomes due to theft and trespassing issues he has experienced during project 
construction. This type of gate may also help to reduce vehicle speeds if the private road starts 
to be used as a cut-through. Security gates are not proposed at this time, but staff recommends 
the design and installation of security gates proposed in the future be able to be reviewed 
administratively if they are deemed to be necessary by the Osterly Park Townhomes property 
owners. Per the Tukwila Fire Department, gates across Fire Department access roads must be 
installed per TMC 16.16 and allow automatic entry. An electrical permit is also required from 
the City for installation of these types of gates. 

A lighting plan has been submitted (see Site Lighting & Photometric Study in Attachment D). 
This plan demonstrates how a combination of pole- and building- mounted lighting will be 
distributed throughout the Osterly Park Townhomes development to provide adequate lighting 
levels for security within shared recreation spaces, driveway areas, private access lane, and 
sidewalk areas. Existing building-mounted lighting on the Lot 24 building and buildings located 
at 14420-14422 34th Ave S will provide lighting to Lot 24 and associated access drive. 

II. BUILDING DESIGN
a. Architectural style is not restricted; evaluation of a project shall be based on the quality

of its design and its ability to harmonize building texture, shape, lines and mass with the
surrounding neighborhood.

b. Buildings shall be of appropriate height, scale, and design/shape to be in harmony with
those existing permanent neighboring developments that are consistent with, or
envisioned in, the Comprehensive Plan. This will be especially important for perimeter
structures. Adjacent structures that are not in conformance with the Comprehensive Plan
should be considered to be transitional. The degree of architectural harmony required
should be consistent with the nonconforming structure's anticipated permanence.

c. Building components, such as windows, doors, eaves, parapets, stairs and decks shall be
integrated into the overall building design. Particular emphasis shall be given to
harmonious proportions of these components with those of adjacent developments.
Building components and ancillary parts shall be consistent with the anticipated life of
the structure.

d. The overall color scheme shall work to reduce building prominence and shall blend in
with the natural environment.

e. Monotony of design in single or multiple building projects shall be avoided. Variety of
detail, form, and siting shall be used to provide visual interest. Otherwise monotonous
flat walls and uniform vertical planes of individual buildings shall be broken up with
building modulation, stairs, decks, railings, and focal entries. Multiple building
developments shall use siting and additional architectural variety to avoid inappropriate
repetition of building designs and appearance to surrounding properties.

58

Osterly Park Townhomes (L18-0112, L18-0065, L08-079) 
Design Review Major Modification and Subdivision Preliminary Approval 
January 24, 2019 
Page 16



The townhome structures and the third story addition to the building on Lot 24 are well within 
the 45-height limit of the HDR zone. The scale of the townhome structures and the third story 
addition provide multifamily development that is in between the scale of the single-family 
homes adjacent to the west, the 4-plex units to the west and south, and the large apartment 
complexes to the north, east, and south.  

Phase 2 of the Osterly Park Townhomes will include three buildings containing two units each, 
and three buildings containing three units each. Each townhome structure will read as a unified 
building mass through use of the same colors and materials. The colors of each townhome 
structure and the use and placement of lap, shingle, and board and batten siding will vary. The 
roof modulation is also varied among the buildings to add visual interest. The pictures below 
demonstrate the variation of colors and roof modulation from structure to structure within the 
development.  

The architectural style of the townhomes and the third-floor addition to the Lot 24 building is a 
Pacific Northwest contemporary style, consistent with the townhome units constructed for 
Phase 1 of the Osterly Park Townhomes. The architectural style makes use of traditional design 
elements including roof pitch, roof eaves, window treatments, building modulation, and 
variation in the arrangement of horizontal, vertical, and shingle siding. Decks are included in the 
design of all the townhome units, and are at least six feet in depth, adding to the amount of 
private open space for each unit. As a condition of approval, the depth of the decks of units on 
lots 16-23 will need to be reduced to meet the 10-foot rear setback requirement.  

59

Osterly Park Townhomes (L18-0112, L18-0065, L08-079) 
Design Review Major Modification and Subdivision Preliminary Approval 
January 24, 2019 
Page 17



The design of the third story addition to 
the Lot 24 blends the existing design of 
the 4-plex buildings at 14420-14424 34th 
Ave S with the design of the Osterly Park 
Townhomes. The existing building design 
is mimicked in the third story addition 
through use of the same size and 
arrangement of windows. Existing 
windows on the east and west sides of 
the building are long and rectangular. 
These windows and any other openings 
(i.e., ducts) on the west side of the 
building will need to be removed to 
meet building code requirements since 
the side yard setback on the west side is 
less than five feet. Additionally, where the building does not meet a minimum setback from the 
property line of five feet, that entire wall from foundation to the roof and extending 10 feet on 
the roof shall be a 3-hour separation, or a 2-hour separation if the building has fire sprinklers. 
This design is reflected in the building elevations (see Attachment D). The proposed pitched 
roof form and modulation of the addition to the building on Lot 24 reflects the design of the 
townhomes, as does the window treatment, the proposed horizontal band between the second 
and third floors, and the proposed vertical siding to contrast and provide variation with the 
existing horizontal siding.  The lower grade at which the building on Lot 24 sits will help reduce 
the visual impact of the third-floor addition on surrounding development and will provide 
variation in building heights within the Osterly Park Townhomes plat. 

III. LANDSCAPE / SITE TREATMENT
a. Existing natural topographic patterns and significant vegetation shall be reflected in

project design when they contribute to the natural beauty of the area or are important
to defining neighborhood identity or a sense of place.

b. Landscape treatment shall enhance existing natural and architectural features, help
separate public from private spaces, strengthen vistas and important views, provide
shade to moderate the effects of large paved areas, and break up visual mass.

c. Walkways, parking spaces, terraces, and other paved areas shall promote safety and
provide an inviting and stable appearance. Direct pedestrian linkages to the public
street, TITLE 18 – ZONING Produced by the City of Tukwila, City Clerk’s Office Page 18–
201 to on-site recreation areas, and to adjacent public recreation areas shall be
provided.

d. Appropriate landscape transition to adjoining properties shall be provided.

60

Osterly Park Townhomes (L18-0112, L18-0065, L08-079) 
Design Review Major Modification and Subdivision Preliminary Approval 
January 24, 2019 
Page 18



Landscape Design and Design for Screening and Separation 
The landscape design focuses plantings and design attention to address the public street in the 
area adjacent to 34th Ave S, and along the pedestrian pathways and shared recreation spaces. 
Private yards are designed as lawn areas in order to leave the flexibility for them to be 
customized by the individual property owners. Clustering of landscaping at the ends of shared 
garage access areas and the lawn areas in between townhome units on the south side of the 
site helps both to create focal points and to delineate shared spaces from private yard areas.   

The perimeter landscaping on the north side of the private access drive will consist of a 10-to 
12-foot wide area that is proposed to include a sidewalk and a 6- to 8- foot wide landscaping
area. This area will separate the Osterly Park Townhomes property from the condo properties
to the north and will help screen the wooden fence.

New landscaping regulations were adopted in the Tukwila Zoning Code in 2017. The new 
regulations provide a set of criteria projects must meet to allow modifications to required 
landscaping areas. The current landscaping design proposes a sidewalk in the perimeter 
landscaping area on the north side of the private access drive and clustering of the required 
shrubs and trees in perimeter areas on the east and south sides of Phase 2. These are all 
modifications which may be considered through design review, per TMC 18.52.100, according 
to the following criteria: 
1. The modification or revision does not reduce the landscaping to the point that activities on

the site become a nuisance to neighbors; and
2. The modification or revision does not diminish the quality of the site landscape as a whole;

and
3. One or more of the following are met:

a. The modification or revision more effectively screens parking areas and blank
building walls; or

b. The modification or revision enables significant trees or existing built features to be
retained; or

c. The modification or revision is used to reduce the number of driveways and curb cuts
and allow joint use of parking facilities between neighboring businesses; or

d. The modification or revision is used to incorporate pedestrian facilities; or
e. The modification is for properties in the NCC or RC districts along Tukwila

International Boulevard, where the buildings are brought out to the street edge and
a primary entrance from the front sidewalk as well as from off-street parking areas is
provided; or

f. The modification is to incorporate alternative forms of landscaping such as
landscape planters, rooftop gardens, green roof, terraced planters or green walls; or

g. The modification is to incorporate a community garden, subject to the provisions of
TMC Section 18.52.030, Note 11.

Staff recommends approval of the proposed landscape modifications. The sidewalk provides a 
pedestrian facility separated from vehicular traffic. Landscape clustering does not diminish the 

61

Osterly Park Townhomes (L18-0112, L18-0065, L08-079) 
Design Review Major Modification and Subdivision Preliminary Approval 
January 24, 2019 
Page 19



quality of the landscape as a whole: the appearance of the development is enhanced by 
grouping plantings at focal points at the ends of shared spaces such as garage access areas or 
recreation spaces where they screen the perimeter fence and help to delineate shared spaces 
from private yard areas.  

The new landscaping regulations also require sites where more than 24 trees will be planted to 
have no more than 20 percent of trees planted on a site be of one species. Two of the tree 
species proposed, including the Green Arrow Alaska Cedar (Chamaecyparis nootkatensis ‘Green 
Arrow’) and the Serbian Spruce (Picea omorika), make up more than 20 percent of the total 
number of trees proposed. Staff recommends a condition of approval to require more diversity 
in the tree species.  

Retaining Wall and Changes to Landscape Design for Fire Access 
The applicant has constructed a retaining wall separating the Osterly Park Townhomes site 
from the 4-plex properties located at 14420-14424 34th Ave S. The retaining wall runs along the 
south side of the access driveway to the 4-plexes and starts at a height of approximately 18 
inches near 34th Ave S, increasing in height to over five feet along Lot 24. The yellow, orange 
and red lines in the diagram above are meant to illustrate this; yellow and orange areas 
represent lower retaining walls; the height of retaining walls is greatest in the red areas. The 
retaining wall is topped with a six-foot fence on the south, east, and north sides of Lot 24. From 
the Osterly Park Townhomes side, all that can be seen is the wood fence. However, from Lot 24 

62

Osterly Park Townhomes (L18-0112, L18-0065, L08-079) 
Design Review Major Modification and Subdivision Preliminary Approval 
January 24, 2019 
Page 20



and the other 4-plex properties located at 14420-14422 34th Ave S, the retaining wall increases 
the amount of hardscape. Staff recommends a condition of approval to require vines such as 
Boston Ivy or Evergreen 
Clematis be planted within 
the landscape area on the 
south side of the fence, with 
modifications made to the 
fence to allow it to cover the 
view of the fence and 
retaining wall from the 
properties located at 14420-
14424 34th Ave S (including 
Lot 24). This will help soften 
the appearance of the fence 
and retaining wall from these properties (see existing view in picture above. 

The diagram on the previous page also illustrates changes to the landscape plan necessary for 
fire access. The proposed hydrant at the corner of the L-shaped access road will need to be 
moved to the landscape island north of Lot 21 in order to serve both the townhomes and Lot 
24. This requires the tree proposed in that landscape island to be relocated within the
landscape strip between the fence and the sidewalk. The hydrant will require bollards to
protect it from vehicle damage. A minimum 4-foot wide gate will also be required to be built
into the fence. Conditions to require these changes have been added to the conditions of
Preliminary Subdivision application under items to be addressed as part of the Public Works
Construction Permit.

Outdoor Space Design 
The shared open spaces proposed for the project include a recreation space with raised beds 
for vegetable gardens, a child’s play area on the south side of the private access road in the 
middle of the site, and two lawn areas with benches and raised-bed planters located in 
between the townhome buildings on the south side of the private access road. 

The amount of shared open space provided in the current proposal exceeds the square footage 
required by code for the 23 townhome units in Phases 1-2 of the Osterly Park Townhomes. 
Calculations in the table at right show the distribution of private recreation space among the 
lots. The zoning code requires a minimum of 400 square feet of recreation space per unit. For 
townhome development, a minimum of 250 square feet out of the 400 is required to be 
private, ground-level recreation space. To determine the amount of shared recreation space 
required, the amount of private recreation space was measured on the Landscaping Plan. The 

63

Osterly Park Townhomes (L18-0112, L18-0065, L08-079) 
Design Review Major Modification and Subdivision Preliminary Approval 
January 24, 2019 
Page 21



amount of private recreation space 
provided for each unit was then 
subtracted from 400 to come up with 
the total amount of shared recreation 
space required for the development. 
The table at right shows that 4,989 
square feet of shared recreation space 
is required for all the townhomes and 
the two new units on Lot 24. A total of 
4,990 square feet of shared recreation 
space is provided. If additional shared 
recreation space is desired on the Lot 
24 building, rooftop recreation space, 
decks, or indoor space could be added. 

The location of the child’s play area on 
the south side of the private access lane 
and at the center of the development is 
consistent with the design criteria, 
which call for the following: 
• An area that is centrally located and

visually accessible to casual
surveillance by passersby and
residents.

• Provides separation of play areas from general passersby for security: A low, black metal
fence will contain the area in which the playground equipment is proposed, to keep
children playing from running out into the private access road. The narrow street, street
curb, trees, and low fence will also help keep vehicles from running off the road into the
area.

• Equipment to satisfy the specific sensory and skill needs up to age 12 (see attached cut
sheet for planned playground equipment).

• An adjacent sitting area for monitoring the children.

IV. MISCELLANEOUS STRUCTURES / STREET FURNITURE
a. Miscellaneous structures shall be designed as an integral part of the architectural

concept and landscape. Materials shall be compatible with buildings, scale shall be
appropriate, colors shall be in harmony with buildings and surroundings, and structure
proportions shall be to scale.

b. The use of walls, fencing, planting, berms, or combinations of these shall accomplish
screening of service yards and other places that tend to be unsightly. Screening shall be
effective in winter and summer.

64

Osterly Park Townhomes (L18-0112, L18-0065, L08-079) 
Design Review Major Modification and Subdivision Preliminary Approval 
January 24, 2019 
Page 22 



c. Mechanical equipment or other utility hardware on roof, ground or buildings shall be
screened from view. Screening shall be designed as an integral part of the architecture
(i.e., raised parapets and fully enclosed under roof) and landscaping.

d. Exterior lighting standards and fixtures shall be of a design and size consistent with
safety, building architecture and adjacent area. Lighting shall be shielded and restrained
in design with no off-site glare spill-over. Excessive brightness and brilliant colors shall
not be used unless clearly demonstrated to be integral to building architecture

Lighting 
The lighting fixtures proposed for Phase 2 will be the design as those that have already been 
installed during Phase 1. Lighting fixtures include street lights along the private access road and 
within common open space/recreation areas, and building-mounted lights on each townhome 
unit. Pictures of the lighting fixtures are included in the Site Lighting and Photometric Study 
plan sheet of Attachment D. 

Service Areas 
The trash and recycling containers for the townhomes are individual containers provided by 
Waste Management; the same as those provided for other single-family properties. The 
homeowners’ association requires that the trash and recycling containers for each townhome 
be stored within the garage and be brought out by the residents to be emptied on trash pickup 
day. 

The trash receptacle for Lot 24 is a large metal bin shared among the units in the building. The 
proposed location for the bin is at the east side of the site, adjacent to the retaining wall. This 
location allows the bin to be screened by parked vehicles and the retaining wall.  

Street Furniture 
Street furniture proposed with the project includes benches, raised bed planters, and 
playground equipment. Pictures of these are shown below. 

65

Osterly Park Townhomes (L18-0112, L18-0065, L08-079) 
Design Review Major Modification and Subdivision Preliminary Approval 
January 24, 2019 
Page 23



CONCLUSIONS - DESIGN REVIEW

1. Site Planning
Pedestrian and vehicle circulation are accommodated in the design of the Osterly Park
Townhomes project. Phase 2 includes sidewalks linked to recreation areas, on-street parking,
and unit entries, except those units on the south side of the private access drive reoriented to
have their entrances directly off the private access drive. Staff recommends a condition of
approval to require the drive aisle from 34th Ave S to the recreation tract to be of colored and
patterned material similar the shared garage access areas, to symbolize shared use of the
private road area for pedestrians and vehicles.

Gates on the north and east sides of Lot 24 are proposed to be constructed within the wood 
fences separating Lot 24 from the Osterly Park Townhomes to allow residents of Lot 24 to 
connect to the Osterly Park Townhomes parking and recreation spaces. A walkway exists on the 
east side of the building on Lot 24 to connect residents to the stairs up to the Osterly Park 
Townhomes development. However, there is no walkway from the building entrance to the 
walkway on the east side of the building. Staff recommends a condition of approval to require 
stepping stone pavers be placed within the landscape and drainage area on the south side of 
the building on Lot 24 (shown in dashed white line areas above) to provide a pathway 
connecting from the building entrance to the east side of the building. A similar treatment 
should also be provided on the north side of the building to connect pedestrians to the stairs 
proposed to connect Lot 24 residents to the recreation space.  

Like the originally approved site design from 2009, the current proposal uses landscaping to 
help delineate and transition from more public areas of the site (street frontage, recreation 
spaces) to private yard areas. A six-foot tall wooden fence will separate the Osterly Park 
Townhomes from surrounding properties. The applicant has discussed installation of a gate for 
security at both vehicular entries due to theft and trespassing issues he has experienced during 
project construction. This type of gate may also help to reduce vehicle speeds if the private 
road starts to be used as a cut-through. Security gates are not proposed at this time, but staff 
recommends the design and installation of the security gates be able to be reviewed 
administratively if it they are deemed to be necessary by the Osterly Park Townhomes property 
owners. Per the Tukwila Fire Department, gates across Fire Department access roads must be 
installed per TMC 16.16 and allow automatic entry. An electrical permit from the City is also 
required. 

2. Building Design
The height and scale of the proposed townhomes the third story addition are consistent with
and fit in with the neighborhood and surrounding area. The proposed design provides variation
of housing types available in the neighborhood and provides a building scale that fits between
the single-family homes adjacent to the west, the 4-plex units to the west and south, and the
large apartment complexes to the north, east, and south.

66

Osterly Park Townhomes (L18-0112, L18-0065, L08-079) 
Design Review Major Modification and Subdivision Preliminary Approval 
January 24, 2019 
Page 24



The architectural style of the townhomes and the third-floor addition to the Lot 24 building is a 
Pacific Northwest contemporary style, consistent with the townhome units constructed for 
Phase 1 of the Osterly Park Townhomes. The architectural style makes use of traditional design 
elements including roof pitch, roof eaves, window treatments, building modulation, and 
variation in the arrangement of horizontal, vertical, and shingle siding. Decks are included in the 
design of all the townhome units and are at least six feet in depth. As a condition of approval, 
the depth of the decks of units on lots 16-23 will need to be reduced as part of building permit 
review to meet the 10-foot rear setback requirement.  

The proposed pitched roof form and modulation of the addition to the building on Lot 24 
reflects the design of the townhomes, as does the window treatment, the proposed horizontal 
band between the second and third floors, and the proposed vertical siding to contrast and 
provide variation with the existing horizontal siding.  The lower grade at which the building on 
Lot 24 sits will help reduce the visual impact of the third-floor addition on surrounding 
development and will provide variation in building heights within the Osterly Park Townhomes 
plat. 

3. Landscape and Site Treatment
The landscape design focuses plantings and design attention to address the public street in the
area adjacent to 34th Ave S, and along the pedestrian pathways and shared recreation spaces.
Staff recommends the applicant’s request for landscape modifications to allow a sidewalk
within the perimeter landscape area, and to allow clustering of landscaping at the ends of
shared garage access areas and the lawn areas in between townhome units on the south side of
the site to create focal points and to delineate shared spaces from private yard areas.

A retaining wall topped with a six-foot fence is located on the south, east, and north sides of Lot 
24. Staff recommends a condition of approval to require vines such as Boston Ivy or Evergreen
Clematis be planted within the landscape area on the south side of the fence (on the Osterly
Townhomes side), with modifications made to the fence to allow it to cover the view of the
fence and retaining wall from the properties located at 14420-14424 34th Ave S (including Lot
24). This will help soften the appearance of the fence and retaining wall from these properties.

Landscaping regulations require sites where more than 24 trees will be planted to have no 
more than 20 percent of trees planted on a site be of one species. Two of the tree species 
proposed, including the Green Arrow Alaska Cedar (Chamaecyparis nootkatensis ‘Green Arrow’) 
and the Serbian Spruce (Picea omorika), make up more than 20 percent of the total number of 
trees proposed. Staff recommends a condition of approval to require more diversity in the tree 
species.  

67

Osterly Park Townhomes (L18-0112, L18-0065, L08-079) 
Design Review Major Modification and Subdivision Preliminary Approval 
January 24, 2019 
Page 25



4. Miscellaneous Structures and Street Furniture
The lighting fixtures proposed for Phase 2 will be the design as those that have already been
installed during Phase 1. Lighting fixtures include street lights along the private access road and
within common open space/recreation areas, and building-mounted lights on each townhome
unit.

The trash and recycling containers for the townhomes are individual containers provided by 
Waste Management and are required by the CC&Rs to be stored inside the garage of each unit. 
Street furniture proposed with the project includes benches and playground equipment.  

RECOMMENDATIONS - DESIGN REVIEW  
Staff recommends approval of the major modification to the design of the Osterly Park Townhome 
project, subject to the following conditions:  

1. The drive aisle from 34th Ave S to the recreation space Tract C shall be of colored and patterned
material similar the shared garage access areas, to symbolize shared use of the private road
area for pedestrians and vehicles.

2. Stepping stone pavers shall be placed within the landscape and drainage area on the south side
of the building on Lot 24 (shown in dashed white line areas above) to provide a pathway
connecting from the building entrance to the east side of the building. A similar treatment shall
also be provided on the north side of the building to connect pedestrians to the stairs proposed
to connect Lot 24 residents to the recreation space.

3. Security gates are not proposed at this time, but staff recommends the design and installation
of the security gates be able to be reviewed administratively if it they are deemed to be
necessary by the Osterly Park Townhomes property owners. Per the Tukwila Fire Department,
gates across Fire Department access roads must be installed per TMC 16.16 and allow
automatic entry. An electrical permit from the City is also required.

4. Two of the tree species proposed, including the Green Arrow Alaska Cedar (Chamaecyparis
nootkatensis ‘Green Arrow’) and the Serbian Spruce (Picea omorika), make up more than 20
percent of the total number of trees proposed. Landscape plan shall be revised to provide more
diversity in the tree species.

5. The depth of the decks of units on lots 16-23 shall be reduced as part of building permit review
to meet the 10-foot rear setback requirement.

6. Vines such as Boston Ivy or Evergreen Clematis shall be planted within the landscape area on
the south side of the fence separating the Osterly Park Townhomes from 14420-14424 34th Ave
S, with modifications made to the fence to allow it to grow on the north side of the fence and
retaining wall to soften the appearance of the fence and retaining wall as viewed from the
north side of the fence.

68

Osterly Park Townhomes (L18-0112, L18-0065, L08-079) 
Design Review Major Modification and Subdivision Preliminary Approval 
January 24, 2019 
Page 26 



SECTION THREE – SUBDIVISION PRELIMINARY PLAT APPLICATION 
REVIEW PROCESS – SUBDIVISION PRELIMINARY PLAT AND FINAL PLAT APPROVAL 

There are three basic steps in the subdivision approval process: 

1. Preliminary Approval
Any land being divided into ten or more unit lots shall receive preliminary plat approval by the
Tukwila Planning Commission as a Type 4 decision according to the provisions of 18.108.040.
Criteria for Preliminary Plat Approval are contained in section 17.14.020(D).  The application was
reviewed by the Tukwila Short Subdivision Committee, and staff’s response to each of the criteria
for preliminary plat approval and recommended conditions of approval are included below.

Once a townhouse project receives preliminary subdivision and design review approval by the 
Board of Architectural Review, the applicant must apply for a Public Works permit for 
construction of project infrastructure.  

2. Final Approval
After construction of project infrastructure and compliance with conditions of preliminary
approval, the applicant must apply to receive final approval for the subdivision plat. The final
approval decision on a subdivision plat is made by the Tukwila City Council. Before the final plat
is submitted to the City Council, it shall be signed by the Tukwila Finance Director, Director of
Public Works, and the Director of the Department of Community Development.

3. Recording
Upon approval by the City Council, the subdivision plat shall be signed by the Mayor and attested
by the City Clerk. It is the applicant’s responsibility to record the City-approved final subdivision plat
documents with the King County Department of Records. The applicant will need to pay the
recording fees and submit the approved original final subdivision plat to King County.  The final
subdivision plat is not complete until the recording occurs, and copies of the recorded documents
are provided to the Department of Community Development. The approved final subdivision plat
must be filed with the King County Department of Records five years from the date of this
preliminary approval or the application will expire.  The Planning Commission may grant a single
one-year extension.

DECISION CRITERIA – SUBDIVISION PRELIMINARY PLAT APPROVAL 

17.14.020 (D) Criteria for Preliminary Plat Approval 
The Planning Commission shall base its decision on an application for preliminary plat approval on 
the following criteria: 

1. The proposed subdivision is in conformance with the Tukwila Comprehensive Plan and any
other city adopted plans.

69

Osterly Park Townhomes (L18-0112, L18-0065, L08-079) 
Design Review Major Modification and Subdivision Preliminary Approval 
January 24, 2019 
Page 27



Following are the relevant policies of the Tukwila Comprehensive Plan: 

Community Image and Identity 
Goal 1.10 Food security, local food production and public health are promoted. 
Policy 1.10.2 Encourage locally-based food production, distribution, and choice through urban 
agriculture, community gardens, farmers markets and food access initiatives.  

Three of the common open space/recreation areas proposed in the design of this project 
include raised-bed planters, providing the opportunity for community gardens in which 
residents of the Osterly Park Townhomes can grow food. 

Housing 
Goal 3.6 Increase long-term residency in the City. 
Policy 3.6.1 Encourage long-term residency by improving neighborhood quality, health and 
safety. 
Policy 3.6.3 Support neighborhood associations and groups that actively work to improve 
neighborhood quality and strengthen sense of community within the neighborhood. 
Phases 1-2 of the Osterly Park Townhomes development propose to add a total of 23 
townhomes to a site zoned for High Density Residential that previously had a few single-family 
homes. Two new units will be added to the existing 4-plex on Lot 24 for a total of 29 dwelling 
units within the subdivision. The new townhomes add home ownership opportunities to the 
HDR zoning district in an area dominated by apartments. Home ownership tends to increase 
long-term residency, and the addition of new development improves neighborhood quality, 
health, and safety. The remodel of the building on Lot 24 will help improve the aesthetic 
appearance of that property. The similar design the building is proposed to have will help tie 
Lot 24 in with the townhome development. The Osterly Park Townhomes will be governed by a 
homeowner’s association to ensure landscaping and shared areas such as access, utilities, and 
recreation spaces are managed and maintained in support of strengthened neighborhood 
quality. Use of parking and shared recreation spaces by the residents of Lot 24 is part of the 
Codes, Covenants and Restrictions (CC&Rs) for the Osterly Park Townhomes subdivision. 

Residential Neighborhoods 
Goal 7.3 Neighborhood Quality: Stable residential neighborhoods that support opportunities for 
improved educational attainment, employment, engagement, economic security, and personal 
safety. 
Policy 7.3.4 Use new development to foster a sense of community and replace lost vegetation 
and open spaces with improvements of at least equal value to the community. 
Goal 7.5 Neighborhood Development: Tukwila’s residential neighborhoods have a high-quality, 
pedestrian character with a variety of housing options for residents in all stages of life. 

70

Osterly Park Townhomes (L18-0112, L18-0065, L08-079) 
Design Review Major Modification and Subdivision Preliminary Approval 
January 24, 2019 
Page 28



Policy 7.5.2 Ensure that residential development, when applicable, reflects high design quality in 
harmony with identified, valued features of the natural environment and historic development. 
7.5.10 Ensure that all multi-family residential developments contribute to a strong sense of 
community through: 

• Site planning focused on neighborhood design integration;
• Building design architecturally linked with the surrounding neighborhood and style;
• Streetscapes that encourage pedestrian use and safe transition to private spaces, with

trees reducing the effects of large paved areas;
• Recreational spaces and facilities on site;
• Creative project design that provides a diversity of housing types within adopted design

criteria, standards and guidelines; and
• Operational and management policies that ensure safe, stable living environments.

The Osterly Park Townhomes will offer homeownership opportunities in an area currently 
receiving public and private reinvestment. The site design includes multiple recreational spaces 
and facilities. The building design includes townhome buildings with two units and three units. 
The addition to the building on Lot 24 is a creative project design that will offer a diversity of 
housing types to the development. New landscaping provides a transition from the public street 
frontage to the units in the development. Vegetation proposed to be added to the perimeter 
and recreation spaces replaces minimal vegetation formerly located on the site and helps 
reduce the effects of paved areas.  

Tukwila International Boulevard (TIB) District 
Goal 8.6 Walkability and Connectivity: A larger network of streets, sidewalks, trails and other 
public spaces throughout the TIB District supports community interaction; connects 
neighborhoods, commercial areas, civic areas, and destinations; and improves community 
health. The TIB District’s circulation network makes the neighborhood a great place to walk, 
improves mobility and safety for all users, encourages walking, bicycling and use of public 
transit, and supports the envisioned land uses. 
Policy 8.6.1 Establish a more walkable and connected street network throughout the TIB District 
by investing in public sidewalks and requiring private redevelopment projects to organize site 
plan elements to allow for through connections. 
Goal 8.8 The TIB District has stable neighborhoods, and residents and businesses that are 
actively engaged in improving the quality of life in the area. 
Policy 8.8.1 Encourage private landowners to maintain and upgrade their property to protect 
the neighborhood from adverse impacts of vacant and underutilized sites and blighted buildings 
and structures. 
The Osterly Park Townhomes project is located several blocks west of Tukwila International 
Boulevard but falls within the boundaries of the TIB District depicted in the Comprehensive 
Plan. The L-shaped private access road provides through-access from 34th Ave S to S 144th St, 
integrating the development into the surrounding neighborhood. A network of sidewalks within 
the development encourages pedestrian activity. The shared spaces within the Osterly Park 

71

Osterly Park Townhomes (L18-0112, L18-0065, L08-079) 
Design Review Major Modification and Subdivision Preliminary Approval 
January 24, 2019 
Page 29



Townhomes and the sidewalk network connected to the surrounding walkable neighborhood 
will help foster a sense of community. 

The Osterly Park Townhomes represents an upgrade to the existing underutilized property. 
The project’s Codes, Covenants, and Restrictions (CC&Rs) and homeowners’ association 
will encourage maintenance of the new improvements proposed with this project. 

2. Appropriate provisions have been made for water, storm drainage, erosion control and
sanitary sewage disposal for the subdivision that are consistent with current standards
and plans.
Plans for water, storm drainage, erosion control, and sanitary sewage disposal are
contained in the Civil Plans for the project (see Attachment D) and have been reviewed by
the Public Works Department for compliance with city standards. The site is within the
Valley View Sewer District, which will also review sewer plans as part of the Public Works
Construction Permit. Conditions are recommended to ensure the applicant obtains the
necessary permits from the Department of Ecology (NPDES permit) and is aware the of the
storm drainage design requirements to be further reviewed as part of the Public Works
Construction Permit.

Basic Development Standards for the HDR zoning district (TMC Section 18.14.070) require
townhouse developments with development coverage of over 50% to incorporate low-
impact development techniques, if feasible (including such features as pervious pavement,
raingardens, etc.). The development area coverage for the Osterly Park Townhomes
project exceeds 50%. However, meetings were held early on during project development
among the applicant, the applicant’s civil engineer, and Tukwila’s surface water engineer,
where it was determined that soil conditions on the project site do not allow stormwater
infiltration. These site conditions preclude the applicant’s ability to incorporate low-impact
development techniques as part of this project.

3. Appropriate provisions have been made for road, utilities and other improvements that
are consistent with current standards and plans.
Provisions for access, utilities, and other improvements have been reviewed for
conformance with current standards and plans by multiple departments, including the
Planning, Fire, Building, and Public Works, as well as the Valley View Sewer District and
Water District 125. Conditions are recommended to ensure changes are made to the
current design to comply with current standards and plans, including providing a street
light mast arm at the project entry at 34th Ave S, hydrant location and access changes, road
and site design for emergency access, sprinkler and fire alarm system requirements, and
water design to meet fire flow requirements.

72

Osterly Park Townhomes (L18-0112, L18-0065, L08-079) 
Design Review Major Modification and Subdivision Preliminary Approval 
January 24, 2019 
Page 30



4. Appropriate provisions have been made for dedications, easements and reservations.
The applicant has submitted a plat survey showing proposed easements (see Attachment
D), and a draft copy of easement documents and codes, covenants, and restrictions (see
Attachment B). These documents have been reviewed by the Public Works and Planning
departments. These documents shall be revised to reference BAR approval, and to include
joint maintenance agreements for access road, fire lane, utilities, landscaping areas, and
recreation areas. Transportation, Parks, and Fire impact fees will apply to the future
Building Permit(s).

5. The design, shape and orientation of the proposed lots are appropriate to the proposed
use for which the lots are intended and are compatible with the area in which they are
located.
The configuration of unit lots (the lot area corresponding to each townhouse unit) is
appropriate for this development type. The lots are arranged around the L-shaped access
road, which will provide a through- vehicular and pedestrian connection for the residents
of the Osterly Park Townhomes, as well as for emergency vehicle access. The project and
building fits in with surrounding development, providing a transition between the existing
single-family homes and higher density development on adjacent properties.

6. The subdivision complies with the relevant requirements of the Tukwila Subdivision and
Zoning Ordinances, and all other relevant local regulations.
The project has been reviewed for compliance with the requirements of the Tukwila
Subdivision and Zoning Ordinances. Issues that will need to be addressed prior to final
subdivision approval are listed under the “Conclusions” section below.

7. Appropriate provisions for maintenance of privately-owned common facilities have been
made.
The applicant has submitted a draft of the Codes, Covenants, and Restrictions (CC&Rs) for
the Osterly Park Townhomes subdivision. These rules outline common responsibilities of
owners and residents of property within the development for maintenance of common
areas, including recreation spaces, parking areas, and the access drive, as well as how
owners who share a common wall will coordinate to make repairs to their homes (i.e. roof
repairs, painting, etc.) so that the aesthetic appearance and function of each building
remains intact. Prior to final approval, the “Declaration of Covenants, Conditions,
Restrictions, Easements and Agreements for Osterly Park Townhomes” shall be revised to
reference the latest BAR approval, and to include joint maintenance agreements for access
road, utilities, recreation areas, retaining walls, fire access lane, and landscaping.

8. The subdivision complies with RCW 58.17.110.
Review of this project by multiple departments at the City of Tukwila, including Building,
Community Development, Public Works, and Fire, and written findings based on the
project review found here meet the requirements of RCW 58.17.110. According to plans

73

Osterly Park Townhomes (L18-0112, L18-0065, L08-079) 
Design Review Major Modification and Subdivision Preliminary Approval 
January 24, 2019 
Page 31



submitted by the applicant, appropriate provisions have been made for the public health, 
safety, and general welfare, for recreation areas, and for infrastructure including access 
and utilities. The proposed subdivision is consistent with the Tukwila Comprehensive Plan 
and will serve the public interest.  

CONCLUSIONS - SUBDIVISION PRELIMINARY PLAT APPROVAL 

The following conclusions are numbered according to the Subdivision Preliminary Plat criteria: 
1. The project complies with applicable goals and policies of the Tukwila Comprehensive Plan.
2. The project has been reviewed by the Public Works department to ensure that appropriate

provisions, consistent with city standards and plans, are included for water, storm drainage,
erosion control, and sanitary sewage disposal. Conditions are recommended to ensure the
applicant obtains the necessary permits from the Department of Ecology (NPDES permit) and is
aware the of the storm drainage design requirements to be further reviewed as part of the Public
Works Construction Permit.

3. Proposed infrastructure, including access road, utilities, and frontage improvements have been
reviewed by the Public Works, Planning, Building, and Fire department for consistency with
current standards and plans. Conditions are recommended to ensure changes are made to the
current design to comply with current standards and plans, including providing a street light mast
arm at the project entry at 34th Ave S, hydrant location and access changes, road and site design
for emergency access, sprinkler and fire alarm system requirements, and water design to meet
fire flow requirements.

4. Appropriate provisions have been made for easements and for codes, covenants, and
restrictions. Prior to final subdivision approval, easements and the “Declaration of Covenants,
Conditions, Restrictions, Easements and Agreements for Osterly Park Townhomes” shall be
revised to reference the latest BAR approval, and to include joint maintenance agreements for
access road, utilities, and landscaping areas.

5. The design, shape and orientation of the proposed lots are appropriate for the proposed use of
the site for townhouse development. The type of development and site design is compatible with
the area in which it will be located.

6. The subdivision complies with the zoning requirements of the HDR zone and has been reviewed
for compliance with the subdivision code.

7. The “Declaration of Covenants, Conditions, Restrictions, Easements and Agreements” includes
provisions for use and maintenance of privately-owned common facilities, including private
access road, recreation areas, and landscaping.

8. The proposed subdivision is consistent with Tukwila’s Comprehensive Plan, zoning and
subdivision regulations, and other city plans. The subdivision as proposed will serve the public
interest and will comply with RCW 58.17.110.

74

Osterly Park Townhomes (L18-0112, L18-0065, L08-079) 
Design Review Major Modification and Subdivision Preliminary Approval 
January 24, 2019 
Page 32



RECOMMENDATION – SUBDIVISION PRELIMINARY PLAT APPROVAL 
Staff recommends approval of the Subdivision Preliminary Plat application with the following conditions: 

PRELIMINARY APPROVAL CONDITIONS 

The following shall be addressed as part of the Public Works Construction Permit: 
1. All utilities for the project, private access road and sidewalks, and recreation areas (including

children’s play equipment), shall be completed and built per the approved Civil Plans (Attachment
D) as part of the Public Works construction permit.

2. The applicant shall obtain an NPDES construction permit for this project.
3. A street light mast arm shall be added to the existing wooden pole.
4. Overhead utilities along 34th Ave S shall be moved underground, unless the applicant applies for

and obtains a waiver from this requirement from the Public Works Director. The applicant shall
submit an estimate for work to underground these utilities with the waiver request.

5. Storm drainage for roof drains, foundation drains, and paved areas shall be infiltrated and/or
dispersed on-site, or detention provided.  Civil site plans shall be reviewed as part of the PW
infrastructure permit.  Contact the Tukwila Public Works Department for submittal and design
requirements.

6. Access road, utilities, undergrounding of power, and extension of sewer and water lines to the unit
lots shall be approved by the appropriate departments and/or utility and conform to the Civil Plans.
As-built plans shall be provided to the Public Works Department prior to final approval.

7. Install all required site improvements, including those proposed in the application and those
identified above as conditions of approval. You will need to obtain all required permits prior to
beginning any construction.  For water and sewer permits, contact the individual provider District.  For
City of Tukwila utilities, contact Tukwila Public Works at (206) 433-0179 for a Public Works (PW) type
‘C’ permit for approval.  A Street Use will be part of this permit and require bonding, insurance, and
a Hold Harmless Agreement for work within the Public Right-of-Way.

8. Fire Department access road shall be designed to support the weight of Fire Department
apparatus. Submitted plans do not show tanks within the access road. If there are any underground
tanks within the access road, they need to support aerial point loading, or the ground needs to be
clearly stenciled with “No Outrigger Placement”.

9. Maintain inside turning radius of 28 feet for Fire Department access road and clearly mark “no
parking” with signs and paint, from 34th Ave S to S 144th St.

10. Maintain 20-foot width for the entire Fire Department Access road and clearly mark “no parking”
with signs and paint, from 34th Ave S to S 144th St.

11. No obstructions under 13’6” shall be located within the Fire Department Access road.
12. No parking shall be located in the entire 20-foot area of the Fire Department Access road to Lot 24.

This area shall be marked with “no parking” signs and paint.
13. The hydrant shown north of Lot 16 shall be moved to the landscape island north of Lot 21. Provide

protection from vehicular damage and install per the Tukwila Municipal Code. A 4’ wide gate for

75

Osterly Park Townhomes (L18-0112, L18-0065, L08-079) 
Design Review Major Modification and Subdivision Preliminary Approval 
January 24, 2019 
Page 33



fire access shall be installed on the north side of this hydrant within the fence separating the 
Osterly Park Townhomes site from the driveway to 14420-14424 34th Ave S. 

14. Hydrant spacing shall be maintained per TMC 14.24.
15. The mailbox location to serve Phase 2 shall be approved by the Postmaster and Public Works.
16. A private street sign will be required for S 144th Ln.

The following shall be addressed prior to final approval of the subdivision plat: 
1. Survey and “Declaration of Covenants, Conditions, Restrictions, Easements and Agreements for

Osterly Park Townhomes” shall be revised to reference the latest BAR approval, and to include joint
maintenance agreements for access road, utilities, retaining walls, fire lane, and landscaping areas.
Easements and the amended codes, covenants, and restrictions shall be recorded prior to final
subdivision approval.

2. Submit a set of recording documents in either legal or record of survey format that meet the King
County Recorder’s requirements and contain the following items:
a) A survey map as described in the application checklist that is consistent with all the conditions of

approval.  The surveyor's original signature must be on the face of the plat.
b) Separate easement document with legal descriptions for any common access/utility

infrastructure.
c) Separate joint Maintenance Agreements for the access road, drainage system, landscaping areas,

retaining walls, fire lane, and recreation spaces.
d) Add Tukwila land use file number L08-079 for the subdivision application to all sheets of the

survey.
e) Add “After” legal description to the survey sheets for the boundaries of the new subdivision.

Also add legal descriptions for each of the tracts.
f) The fact that the unit lot is not a separate buildable lot, and that additional development of the

individual unit lots may be limited as a result of the application of development standards to
the parent lot, shall be noted on the plat.

g) A note stating that all homes require sprinklers shall be added to the plat map.
h) The following assigned addresses and private street names shall be added to the plat map. The

recorded document showing these addresses shall be returned to the Fire Marshall’s Office
with parcel numbers.

S 144th LN: 
• 3401 Lot #23
• 3403 Lot #22
• 3407 Lot #21
• 3411 Lot #20
• 3415 Lot #19
• 3419 Lot #18
• 3423 Lot #17
• 3427 Lot #16

34th LN S: 
• 14418 Lot #15
• 14420 Lot #14
• 14422 Lot #13
• 14416 Lot #12
• 14414 Lot #11
• 14412 Lot #10
• 14410 Lot # 9

76

Osterly Park Townhomes (L18-0112, L18-0065, L08-079) 
Design Review Major Modification and Subdivision Preliminary Approval 
January 24, 2019 
Page 34



The following shall be addressed as part of the Building Permits: 
1. Transportation, Parks, and Fire impact fees will apply to the future Building Permit(s).
2. Water to all buildings will be required to meet fire flow requirements per the International Fire

Code.
3. Bedrooms require rescue windows with ladder access, with a flat 12’ deep by 4’ wide area.
4. All townhomes require fire sprinklers.
5. Lot 24 will require fire sprinklers and a fire alarm system. This shall be installed per TMC 16.40 and

TMC 16.42.
6. Lot 24 will retain the original addresses but addresses of new units will be assigned when the

building permit showing layout of the new units is submitted.
7. Per the Building Division, where the building on Lot 24 does not meet a five-foot minimum setback,

that entire wall from foundation to the roof and extending 10 feet on the roof shall have a 3-hour
separation, or a 2-hour separation if sprinkled. There shall be no openings on that side (i.e.,
windows, ducts or similar). Engineering for the entire building shall be required for the additional
construction of the third floor.

8. Water and sewer availability letters are required for the new units on Lot 24.

77

Osterly Park Townhomes (L18-0112, L18-0065, L08-079) 
Design Review Major Modification and Subdivision Preliminary Approval 
January 24, 2019 
Page 35



78



79

wynetta
Text Box
ATTACHMENT A  



80



81



82



83



84



85

wynetta
Text Box
ATTACHMENT B



86



87



88



89



90



91



92



93



94



95



96



97



98



99



100



101



102



103



104



105



106



107



108



109



110



111



112



113



114



115



116



117



118



119



120



121



122



123



124



125



126



127



128



129

wynetta
Text Box
  ATTACHMENT C



130



131



132



133



134



135



136



137

wynetta
Text Box
ATTACHMENT D



138



139



140



141



142



143



144



145



146



147



148



149



150



151



152



153



154



155



156



157



158



159



160



161



162



163



164



165



166



167



168


	Insert from: "Attachment B.pdf"
	VIETNAMESE MARTYRS PARISH:   - Conditional Use Permit
	A5 LANDSCAPE PLAN

	Attachment B1.pdf
	Attachment B2.pdf
	VIETNAMESE MARTYRS PARISH:   - Conditional Use Permit
	A5 LANDSCAPE PLAN




	Insert from: "SR_VAR_MajorMod&Prelim_L18-0112_L18-0065.pdf"
	STAFF REPORT TO THE BOARD OF ARCHITECTURAL REVIEW
	DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT
	Surrounding Land Uses
	Preliminary Approval Conditions



	Insert from: "01-24-19 Agenda.pdf"
	Insert from: "Attachment B.pdf"
	VIETNAMESE MARTYRS PARISH:   - Conditional Use Permit
	A5 LANDSCAPE PLAN

	Attachment B1.pdf
	Attachment B2.pdf
	VIETNAMESE MARTYRS PARISH:   - Conditional Use Permit
	A5 LANDSCAPE PLAN








